
 
 

General Chiropractic Council 
 

Council Meeting to be held at 11am on 18 June 2015 
44 Wicklow Street London WC1X 9HL 

 
OPEN AGENDA 

Declarations of interest: members are reminded that they are required to declare any direct or indirect pecuniary 
interest, or any non-pecuniary interest, in relation to any matters dealt with at this meeting.  In accordance with Standing 
Orders, the Chair will rule on whether an interest is such as to prevent the member participating in the discussion or 
determination of the matter. Items marked with an asterisk are supported by a Paper or other documents. All other items 
are dealt with orally. 
 Item 

 
Action Timing 

 Welcome/apologies/declarations of interest to note 11.00-11.05 
C-180615-1 Draft minutes of meeting of 31 March 2015 to approve 11.05-11.10 
C-180615-2 Matters arising and action log to approve 11.10-11.20 
C-180615-3 Chair’s Report 

• Meeting of the International Chiropractic Regulatory 
Collaboration 

to note 11.20-11.30 

C-180615-4 Chief Executive’s Report 
• Update on research 
• Report on AECC visit 
• Update on proposals for legal reform of regulation 
• PSA Performance Report  
• PSA Consultation 
• Update on Council of Chiropractic Education 

International 
• Letter re. ToC from Alliance of UK Chiropractors* 
• Update on governance manual 
• Update on the Welsh Language Scheme 

to note 11.30-12.00 

C-180615-5 Financial Statement 2014 – Audit Findings report and Letter of 
Representation 

to note 12.00-12.25 

C-180615-6 Code and Standards Review* to approve 12.25-13.10 
 Lunch (including training on financial matters)  13.10-14.40 
C-180615-7 Performance report (including annual FtP statistics report)* to note  14.40-15.00 
C-180615-8 Indemnity Rule changes* to approve 15.00-15.15 
C-180615-9 Update report from the Audit Committee 

• External audit appointment 
• Strategic Risk Register – items over 15 

to note 15.15-15.30 

C-180615-10 Workplan to note 15.30-15.40 
C-180615-11 AOB 

• Dinner at the Athenaeum on the evening of the Council’s 
December meeting 

to note 15.40-15.45 

  
Date of next meeting:  30 September 2015 
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C-180615-1 

 
MINUTES OF THE MEETING 

OF THE GENERAL CHIROPRACTIC COUNCIL 
HELD ON 31 MARCH 2015 

44 WICKLOW STREET, LONDON WC1X 9HL 
 

OPEN SESSION 
 
Present: 
Suzanne McCarthy, Chair 
Sophia Adams Bhatti 
Marie Cashley 
Roger Creedon 
Christina Cunliffe 
Roger Dunshea 
Tom Greenway 
Gareth Lloyd 
Julie McKay 
Grahame Pope 
Liz Qua 
Julia Sayers 
Carl Stychin 
Gay Swait 
 
In attendance: 
David Howell, Chief Executive and Registrar 
Penny Bance, Director of Education, Registration and Standards 
Paul Ghuman, Deputy Chief Executive (Director Resources & Regulation) 
Neil Johnson, Policy and Communications Manager 
Amanda Greenlees, Executive PA 
 

 Apologies and declarations of interest 
 
The Chair welcomed the Council’s new member, Carl Stychin. There were no 
apologies and no declarations of interest were made. 
 

C-310315-1 Draft minutes of meeting of 1 December 2014 
 
The minutes of the October meeting were agreed as an accurate record subject 
to the following amendments: 
 
The first action point of item 2, Matters Arising and Action log, to be amended to 
read “Royal College of Chiropractors”. 
 
An additional sentence to be added at the end of item 7, Business Plan 2015, to 
read “Action: Council agreed the Business plan for 2015”. 
 
In item 9, Cazenove Investment Update, the portfolio value to read “£4.237m” 
rather than “£4.237k” and the final figure to read “£114k” rather than “£114”. 

C-310315-2 Matters arising and Action log 
 
All matters arising listed in the action log were confirmed as complete. 
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C-310315-3 Chair’s Report 
 
Board effectiveness and appraisals 
The Chair thanked all Council members for the time and effort they put into their 
personal appraisals and responding to the issue which she had raised with them 
individually on the subject of board effectiveness. She said that the general 
consensus was that Council was effective. However, now that Council had 
moved from bi-monthly to quarterly meetings, members were concerned to 
ensure that they were kept well informed between meetings so that Council 
could adequately perform its responsibilities. The Chair said that, as a result of 
the concerns raised by Council’s understanding of the GCC’s finances, a 
financial training session was being arranged around the June Council meeting. 
 
PSA seminar 
The Chair reported on the recent PSA seminar that she attended with the Chief 
Executive (CE), to which all healthcare chairs and chief executives were invited. 
She confirmed that the recent PSA Audit report and the GCC’s response were 
now on the GCC’s website. 
It was noted that the PSA was due to start its consultation on its performance 
review process. It was anticipated that the healthcare regulators would submit a 
co-ordinated response. 
 

C-310315-4 Chief Executive’s Report 
 
Private Member’s Bill 
The CE reported that the Private Member’s Bill had received Royal Assent. 
When the Act is brought into force it will mean that the GCC’s sole statutory duty 
would be to protect the public. 
 
Fall in FtP complaints 
The CE also reported the latest FtP statistics which showed, for the first time in 
five years, a fall in the number of cases being reported annually to the GCC. 
 
Report on attendance at conferences 
The CE reported on his recent attendance at the BCA conference, and said that 
the conference’s emphasis had been on professionalism. He had also attended 
the UCA’s conference. 
 
Update on the Welsh language scheme 
The CE updated Council on progress on the Welsh Language Scheme. While 
this was still a work in progress, the Welsh Language Commissioner had 
published a paper setting out 179 draft standards for all health regulators to 
meet. A joint response from the regulators had been submitted to the 
Commissioner. A further update would be provided at the next meeting. 
 
Action: Update on the Welsh Language Scheme to be provided at the June 
Council meeting 
 
International Chiropractic Regulatory Collaboration (ICRC) Congress in Athens 
The CE reported that he had been contacted by the organisers of the upcoming 
ICRC conference and asked if he would moderate at the meeting as well as be 
part of the steering group. Paul Philip, previously the GMC’s Deputy Chief 
Executive and now Chief Executive of the Solicitors Regulation Authority, had 
agreed, at the CE’s request, to speak about trends in regulation at the 
conference.  The Chair would act as host at the meeting. 
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The Chiropractic register 
The CE informed Council that legal advice had been obtained from specialist 
solicitors to ensure that the GCC’s practises in respect of the non-practising 
register complied with the Equality and Diversity Act. 
 
Update on research proposal 
The Director of Education, Registration and Standards introduced the paper on 
the research proposal as explained in the paper and advised Council that this 
subject would be considered by  the Education Committee at its April meeting,  
where the practicalities of carrying out the research proposals would be 
discussed with the education providers. The GCC aimed to gather information 
from Education providers and from students so that data could be analysed to 
identify trends and to see which information could be used to embed and raise 
awareness of the new Code and of professional behaviour. She explained that 
the second phase of the work would be to include registrants but before doing 
that, the new Code would need to have been implemented. This explained the 
suggested phased approach. 
 
Grahame Pope, Chair of the Education Committee, commented that he 
considered this work to be important. He recognised that the Education providers 
would need to see the benefit of this if they were to agree to provide the 
necessary resources. 
 
Council discussed the issue of professionalism as highlighted in Sally Williams’ 
paper and the point was made that the concern was more specific to 
‘professional behaviour’, around such areas as consent. Council also discussed 
the importance of gaining a wide response and believed that the GCC would 
need a mechanism by which to understand the results of the information 
gathered. It was also suggested that the GCC should both speak with education 
providers to get their views on resourcing, as well as the General Osteopathic 
Council, to understand how they have benefitted from the work they had already 
carried out in this area. 
 
Council was asked to agree the first phase – working with students and 
Education providers - as set out in the paper. Council decided they should 
discuss this proposal again at its June Council meeting taking into account the 
Committee’s discussion with the Education providers. 
 
Action: Council to be updated on the Education Committee’s discussion of 
the first phase of the research proposal. 
 
Equality and Diversity 
The CE provided Council with an update on the development of the GCC’s 
Equality and Diversity policy. He advised Council that the action plan for the 
Equality and Diversity work was nearly completed and would form part of the 
Governance documentation. 
 
Update on meeting with the Department of Health 
The CE discussed the meeting he had with Marc Thomas and other officials 
responsible at the Department of Health (DH) for regulation. Mr Thomas had 
advised him that the Government was considering putting in place an 
arrangement whereby the PSA would annually bid on what work it wished to 
carry out. Regulators would be invited to comment with the Privy Council making 
the final decision if there was no agreement. The CE also said that the DH was 
very supportive of the Council’s aim to modernise the GCC’s Code of Practise in 
the way it intended. 
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Letter to registrants re: the Spencer case 
The CE referred to the letter he had sent to registrants explaining the High Court 
decision in the Spencer case, which had been agreed by Council.  The Council 
noted that the ruling in the Spencer case did not remove the need for legislative 
change which the GCC requires and is working with the DH to achieve. 
However, the Council endorsed the principles as set out in the letter, which it felt 
would improve the GCC’s ability to protect the public. 
 
Advertising 
The CE introduced a paper on complaints on chiropractors advertising. In the 
light of the Spencer decision, Council wished to review its policy on this subject. 
Council decided, after discussion, to endorse the suggestions set out in 
paragraph 13 of the paper to the effect that, in future, such cases would be 
placed into three categories: 
 

• An allegation may be such that no further action was required or any 
involvement by the GCC (for example, where claims were made against 
someone who was not under the GCC’s  jurisdiction The complainant 
would be notified accordingly; 

• The allegations raise such serious issues of professional conduct (as 
defined by the Spencer case) that they need to be investigated 
immediately by the GCC (in criminal cases the GCC would on occasion 
take action before the end of a police investigation in order to protect the 
public). 

• All other complaints involving advertising would usually be referred to the 
Advertising Standards Authority (ASA). Once the ASA had concluded its 
determination, the matter would be examined to see what, if any, further 
action needed to be taken by the GCC. 
 

Council agreed to adopt this change in policy. 
 
Letter regarding accreditation 
The CE mentioned the letter received from the four Membership Associations 
requesting the GCC obtain a copy of comparative standards analysis from the 
Council of Chiropractic Education International (CCEI) and map this against the 
GCC’s criteria. He also said that mutual recognition of qualifications remained an 
aspiration of the GCC. 
 
Council agreed to request the information in order to carry out the analysis. 
 
Action: GCC to request the information from the CCEI on comparative 
standards analysis. 
 
Use of the courtesy title Doctor 
The CE introduced the subject  of the use of the courtesy title ‘Dr’ by 
chiropractors, which he said they were  allowed to use on the proviso that  it was 
made clear that they did not possess a medical qualification (if they do not). The 
GCC’s position had been that registrants could use the title in that way. 
 
Council discussed the use of the title and noted that the Royal College of 
Chiropractors had attempted to dissuade chiropractors from using the title ‘Dr’. 
Council agreed that this issue should be raised at the joint 
GCC/RCC/Professional Associations meeting in May. 
 
Action: The use of the courtesy title ‘Dr’ to be placed on the agenda of the 
next the joint Professional Associations/RCC/GCC meeting. 
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C-310315-5 CPD scheme and continuing fitness to practise 
 
The Chair of the Education Committee, Grahame Pope, introduced the paper on 
reviewing and developing the CPD scheme to assure the continuing fitness to 
practise of registrants. He provided Council with an update on the progress 
made by the Education Committee in reviewing the current CPD schemes, set 
out the recommendations on how the CPD scheme could be developed so that it 
offered assurance of the continuing fitness to practise of registrants and sought 
Council’s agreement to a work programme required for undertaking further 
development of this subject. Council was advised that a list of recommendations 
had emerged, following the workshop held in January on CPD. 
 
The Director of Education, Registration and Standards explained that the 
principles on which the scheme would be based required further work but would  
allow the GCC to assure continued FtP and would make the current CPD 
scheme more robust. She said that the proposed workplan adopted a phased 
approach, working within the current Act and Rules to build on the current CPD 
scheme. She also discussed the necessity of investing in an IT system, which 
she said would be essential for the work to be implemented effectively. The GCC 
would seek to source a cost-effective CPD system. The grant from the DH would 
be used to carry out some of the implementation of the work. 
 
Council was asked to agree to the new scheme based on the proposed 
principles and for the Education Committee to work up those principles to further 
develop the CPD scheme. 
 
Council agreed to the development of the new CPD scheme as set out in 
the proposed work plan. 
 

C-310315-6 Review of the Code and Standards 
 
Following the seminar before the meeting on the new, draft Code (version 5), 
Council noted the update provided by the Director of Education, Registration and 
Standards.  Council approved in principle the draft Code subject to further minor 
amendments being made as discussed at the seminar. 
 
A discussion on Guidance notes followed. Council discussed the accessibility of 
the Guidance and the need for its importance to be highlighted to registrants. 
Council agreed that the onus was on registrants to keep themselves updated in 
relation to the Guidance. The majority of Council felt that it was important that 
the ‘shelf life’ of the Code be preserved, and that the Code could maintain its 
clarity in keeping the Guidance, which could be easily updated, separate. The 
current proposal was for Pye Tait to draft of the Guidance. Council also noted 
that there was a lot of information already in existence on subjects such as 
consent which might usefully be utilised in the drafting of the Guidance. 
 
Council approved the proposals for the production of guidance notes over 
the forthcoming year.  A mock up of a guidance note would be shared with 
Council in June. 
 
Action: Final draft Code to be presented to Council for approval in June. 
 
Action: Mock-up of guidance note template to be shown at the June 
Council meeting. 
 

Page 5 of 8 
 

6



C-180615-1 

C-310315-7 Performance Report including the Annual Registration Report 
 
Business Plan 
The Deputy Chief Executive (DCE) explained that the report being presented 
was an early period report covering the first two months of the year.  As such, 
there were only a small number of activities due for completion but he assured 
Council that the activities due for completion in quarter one were progressing 
satisfactorily. He advised that there would be a much larger number of activities 
due for completion by the second half of the year. 
 
KPIs 
The DCE said that the only KPI not being met at present was the target of listing 
90% of PCC hearings within nine months of referral. A high number of hearing 
days had been agreed in the budget for 2015 in order to deal with the backlog of 
PCC cases. A large proportion of these cases would be completed by the end of 
March and it was expected that the GCC would return to a ‘steady state’ in the 
second half of 2015. 
 
Annual Registration Report 
The Registrations Manager introduced the Annual Registration report. He 
reported that there were difficulties in projecting future numbers of registrants, 
but said that the numbers were expected to fall over the next five years. The 
report also discussed the reasons why registrants came off the register. The 
remainder of the document covered a variety of related subjects such as the 
diversity of registrants. 
 
Council said it would be useful if there was a differentiation between those who 
did not intend to register (and so did not complete their CPD) and those whose 
CPD did not meet requirements. 
 
It was noted that the report would to be placed on the GCC website. 
 
Financial summary 
The DCE introduced the Financial summary, explaining that the paper presented 
an early year position with only the first two months’ results. Overall, he said that 
both income and expenditure were in line with budget expectations, with the 
budget showing a £10k surplus. 
 
It was noted that the number of registrants was below that forecasted by 1%. He 
explained that this was as a result of an increase in the number of registrants 
coming off the register and a reduction in the percentage of students registering 
from one education establishment as compared to previous years. 
 
He said that income was expected to be in line with the forecast for the end of 
the year, with positive differences on other income lines. 
 

C-310315-8 Budget update 
 
The DCE updated Council on the budget position. He explained that the 2015 
budget agreed in December was subject to consideration of whether the income 
forecast was realistic. He said that the proposed budget showed an increase in 
income of 5% on the 2014 actual figure and an increase of 2% on expenditure 
on the 2014 actual figure. The surplus was maintained at £10k. A reduction of 
£25k in accommodation costs had been negotiated. The Audit Committee had 
agreed with the recommendation made by the Executive to increase FtP audits 
as part of its assurance system to a quarterly basis in 2015 at an additional cost 
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of £11k per year. He continued that the work on the recognition of degree criteria 
would not be completed in 2015, so part of that expenditure would, if necessary, 
instead be utilised for the production of guidance. 
 
The DCE said that the recruitment of two new members of staff would cost £45k 
in 2015. 
 
Other than the increase staffing, the DCE did not consider that there was a 
requirement at this stage for the Council to change the budget. 
 
Council noted that the capital plan for 2015 indicated an expenditure of £13k, 
and that this was for the purchasing of new laptops and software licenses. 
 
Council agreed the Capital plan as presented. 
 

C-310315-9 Remuneration Committee paper 
 
Roger Creedon, the Chair of the Remuneration Committee, introduced the 
committee’s paper which asked Council to agree a change to the Committee’s 
terms of reference as well as noting its work programme for next year. The 
Committee will also undertake a preliminary review of Council member/chair 
remuneration. The change in the terms of reference - that the Remuneration 
Committee meetings be quorate with two Council members and one 
independent member - was necessary to enable the Committee to have more 
flexibility. 
 
The Chair also said that remuneration of the daily rate paid to members of the 
IC, PCC, HC and Education Committee had not been reviewed for three years 
and therefore the Remuneration Committee were seeking to carry out a review. 
This information would be presented to Council as part of the Remuneration 
Committee’s report in December 2015 in accordance with the workplan. 
 
Council noted the work programme for next year and agreed the change to 
the Committee’s Terms of Reference. 
 

C-310315-10 Audit Committee report 
 
Roger Dunshea, Chair of the Audit Committee, reported on a recent meeting 
with the external auditors, haysmacintyre, in relation to the scope of the external 
audit for the 2014 Accounts. The main item under discussion was the valuation 
and correct recording of income from the new investment portfolio. The audit 
team would continue to look at areas such as registration income, internal 
processes including segregation of duties and adequate testing.  
 
The DCE advised Council that the tender process for the external auditors had 
begun and that interviews had been scheduled for 15 May. The recommendation 
for the appointment would be brought to the June Council meeting. 
 
It was reported that there had been a change in the Remuneration Committee’s 
membership with Carl Stychin replacing Liz Qua, who was thanked for her work 
on the committee. 
 
Action: External auditor appointment recommendation to be brought to the 
June Council meeting.  
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C-310515-11 Review of the Strategic Risk Register 
 
Roger Dunshea, Chair of the Audit Committee, provided an update to Council 
explaining that, considering the progress which had been made on both the 
Code and CPD, the committee felt that there was a reduced level of risk in those 
two key areas. The committee felt, however, that the PSA Performance review 
process was a continuing burden, especially considering their recent proposal of 
quarterly requests for data. 
 
The Chair said that security breaches continued to be a low risk. Regarding 
communication/engagement with stakeholders, the committee felt that, 
particularly in light of consultation on the Code, these needed to continue to be 
managed to ensure continuing engagement. 
 

C-310315-12 Work plan 
 
Council discussed the Council 2015 work plan and proposed the following 
changes: 

• Governance documents should be added to the workplan for June 2015, 
which will include Equality and Diversity and handling of complaints 
against Council members; 

• Overall financial options to be considered at the September Council 
meeting; and 

• Approval of external auditors to be added to the June Council meeting. 
 
Action: Update workplan according to agreed changes. 
 

C-310315-13 AOB 
 
Newsletter 
Council discussed items for inclusion in the next newsletter, and agreed the 
following might be included: 
 
• Reduction in complaints 
• Advertising 
• Private Member’s bill 
• CPD and the Code updates 
 
The Chair, on behalf of all Council members, warmly thanked Christina Cunliffe 
for her considerable contribution as a Council member and wished her well for 
the future. Christina replied that she had been a member for a number of years 
serving under a number of Chairs and felt that the GCC was in a much better 
shape now than it had been in previous years. She also thanked the Deputy CE 
for his hard work in handling the GCC’s finances and producing savings over the 
years. 

 
Date of next meeting: 18 June 2015 
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ACTIONS ARISING FROM THE COUNCIL MEETING OF MARCH 2015 
 

 

ITEM ACTION WHO BY WHEN STATUS 
4.1 Update on the Welsh Language Scheme to be 

provided at the June Council meeting 
  on agenda 

4.2  Council to be updated on the Education 
Committee’s discussion of the first phase of the 
research proposal. 

  on agenda 

4.3 GCC to request the information from the CCEI 
on comparative standards analysis. 
 

  completed 

4.4 The use of the courtesy title ‘Dr’ to be placed on 
the agenda of the next the joint Professional 
Associations/ RCC/GCC meeting. 
 

  completed 

6.1 Final draft Code to be presented to Council for 
approval in June. 

  on agenda 

6.2 Mock-up of guidance note template to be shown 
at the June Council meeting. 

  In development 
– to be taken 
outside of 
meetings 

11  External auditor appointment recommendation 
to be brought to the Council’s June meeting. 

  on agenda 

12 Update workplan according to agreed changes. 
 

  completed 
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1st May 2015 
 
Dear David 
 
Letter of No-Confidence in the GCC Test of Competence 
The AUKC which represents over 1000 chiropractors and several hundred students,  are 
writing to express our deep concerns regarding what appears to be a prejudicial and flawed 
test of Competence procedure.  
 
That we are having this discussion again with the GCC is extremely disappointing. The 
consultations we had with the GCC and the considered advice that was given by the 
associations has been essentially ignored.  As mentioned in our previous communication with 
the GCC, a workable solution to the challenge of a viable and fair test was agreed upon and 
then an apparent complete u-turn took place without any further consultation with the 
associations. The previous Test of Competence, which was unjust and not fit for purpose, has 
been replaced with an even worse one. Disappointingly, it appears that the GCC has followed 
the advice of the same individuals who made the previous test untenable. The idea that 
‘patient safety’ is an issue with foreigners or overseas trained Chiropractors has not one 
shred of evidence and indeed was completely debunked by the GCC’s own findings.  
There are two main areas of concern with the test that the GCC has put in place. The first is 
the apparent confusion and inefficiency displayed by the office staff. The second, and more 
urgent priority, is the test itself. 
 
Observations from Candidates for the Test of Competence 2015 
 

1. The GCC is not honouring the deadlines posted on their web site. The February 20 deadline 

for the March interview was already closed around February 15. The May 15 deadline for the 

June interview was closed around April 15! The GCC claims that they have set up an extra 

panel for the March Interview and that the deadline is not really a deadline, but a “guideline”. 

Nowhere on their website does it say anything like that. They apparently only take 4 

candidates per interview. Each interview is to last approximately 1 hour 45 minutes. There are 

only 4 interviews per calendar year, in January, March, June and September. A graduate from 

Life University is back in the UK and was in the process of submitting for the May deadline, 

only to see that they closed it at least a month early. This is having a big impact on him and his 

wife and kids, as he will not be able to be interviewed until September. 

2. The GCC does not reply to questions in a timely fashion. Example: X contacted the GCC in 

early March via email and then through email and phone calls until early April. An email was 

finally received the from the GCC over a month after the initial communication. Initially, in 

September 2014, X contacted the GCC using their general email address found under the 
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Contact Us tab on their website. A response to this email was never received. Another email 

address was finally found and used - a response was received several weeks later.  

3. There are no clear-cut instructions on what to submit with the Evidence of Practice 

Questionnaire (EOPQ). The GCC require real patient records from the DC candidate’s case 

loads. However, this is against the privacy regulations in many countries. Therefore the GCC 

does allow a candidate to write in 10 hypothetical cases in the EOPQ. However, it does NOT 

say anywhere on their website that the candidate should make up hypothetical daily notes, 

intake and exam forms, etc for these hypothetical cases. This was detrimental to a candidate 

from Australia, who has practiced several years in Australia and Hong Kong. 50% of his failing 

grade was based on the missing case notes that he did not know to provide. Why was this not 

communicated to the candidate before he sat the interview? The GCC knew he would score 

better if the case notes were provided so to withhold this information was effectively a stab in 

the back. The instructions on their website are nebulous and it appears that the candidates 

are, on purpose, set up to fail. 

4. It is believed that application instructions have been changed several times already as reported 

by many candidates to these authors. 

5. At the January interview, 1 out of 4 candidates passed. This is a high failure rate and it does 

not necessarily reflect poorly on the candidates. A high failure rate may also indicate that there 

is something wrong with the test. In this case, it could be a small clique of people on the 

interview panel who decide who is going to be “part of the club” and that the interview is not 

based on ability, but on who you know. This would not be the first time that ‘Educationalists’ 

have heavily influenced decisions that affect the profession.  

6. It has been noted from the letter from the Registrar to the President of the UCA that only 33% 

of candidates have passed straightaway, an incredibly low rate. As a comparison, it is 

expected that a pass rate of 80-90% of applicants to the US Chiropractic Boards would be 

achieved. Of the others that have not, one candidate has to write several dissertations on 

topics as diverse as prescription drugs and clinical audit. This is not an assessment of their 

clinical competence and safety but a power trip on behalf of a small faction of the profession 

who wish to drive their ideals and scope of practice into us all.  

7. Several candidates have reported a chaotic testing procedure where inconsistencies were 

noted across the different panels. In some cases paperwork was lost or not readily available. 

At £1500 a test, this organisational chaos is at best unprofessional and at worse vindictive. 

8. One candidate reported criticism of assessing the spine in the case of an extremity condition. 

In fact, this was one area in which they were failed. As practising Chiropractors, we find it 

incredible that this would be the case. Without delving deeper into a proper clinical assessment 

in this case, why would it not be relevant to assess and treat (if appropriate) the area of the 

spine from which the nervous system control of the injured area originates? Again, we feel that 

this case highlights the deficiencies in the examiners and their testing protocols and the 

persistent concerns that educationalists are out of touch with real life clinical practice and not 

the controlled environments of an undergraduate institution’s clinic.  

9. Nowhere on the GCC website do they post the pass/fail rates or the names of the people on 

the panel examining the candidates. The fact that they want to keep this secret is a strong 

indicator that the interview is capricious and arbitrary. If the panel is worried about 

repercussions, this simply means that they feel their failing grade really would not hold up 

under scrutiny. If someone truly fails, the panel should be able to back it up with documentation 
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and not be afraid of standing by their decision. There is no need to keep things secret if they 

have nothing to hide! Being transparent about pass/fail rates and names of examiners is 

common practice for any examining or interview panel/board in the world. This lack of 

transparency was one of the main concerns reported with the previous TOC. 

10. Does the GCC employ a psychometrician (a person who objectively measures skills, 

knowledge, abilities, attitudes and educational achievement)? Every examining 

body/board/panel should employ a psychometrician to validate the interview/examination 

process and to keep it at a professional standard, so no one can say it is a capricious and 

arbitrary. 

11. If the GCC does not employ a psychometrician, then who are they accountable to in regards 

this test? Who makes sure this is not a ‘good ol’ boys club’ as we have had reason to rue over 

many years in the UK? Who makes sure the GCC is acting professionally at all? 

12. Part of the application requirement is a list of Learning Outcomes for each class taken in 

chiropractic college. An example of a learning outcome for Neuroanatomy of the peripheral 

nervous system:  

AT THE END OF THIS MODULE/COURSE YOU WILL BE ABLE TO BE PROFICIENT IN 
The peripheral nervous system and its role in maintaining the health and integrity of the 
human body and focuses on how interference with normal functions of the nervous system 
may cause dysfunction or disease. The peripheral nervous system consists of the cranial 
nerves, spinal nerves and peripheral visceral nervous system. The structures involved with 
the special senses of vision, hearing, balance, taste, smell and touch are also studied. 
For many applicants, this involves nearly 100 cIasses that have perhaps evolved over the last 
x number of years since the degree was sat. This requirement is overly onerous and time-
consuming and has nothing to do with whether the applicant being safe and competent or not. 
Many learning outcomes are not posted on the various chiropractic college websites and 
many of the learning outcomes have changed from when applicants studied years ago. The 
fact that someone graduated from a CCE accredited college should suffice in terms of 
reaching the required educational standard.  

13. When a candidate finally gets a response from the GCC, the answers are often nebulous. It 

often takes several emails and much time wasted to gain a lucid response.  

14. Part of the application requires real patient case notes (anonymised) from the candidate’s 

patient case load. However, the GCC do allow hypothetical cases to be submitted. It is very 

unprofessional for the GCC to even ask for anonymised patient notes as part of their 

application process. As an example, US state boards may impose penalties for privacy 

violations, the US Federal Government may impose civil or criminal sanction for using a 

patient’s health information for something not related to their assessment/treatment or 

insurance company. The GCC is in effect encouraging you to break US law to get registered in 

the UK. 

15. It is noted that the GCC has a “ Do not contact the GCC too often” policy. See link 

Unreasonably Persistent Contact and Unacceptable Behaviour towards GCC staff, it is listed 

under policies on their website. The fact that they had to write such a policy, indicates that they 

have had many frustrated candidates in the past, which again does not reflect poorly on the 

candidates, but rather on the GCC. This policy is explained with the points above: their 

application process is chaotic, communications are nebulous, the exam/interview process 
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appears to be capricious and arbitrary by being secretive and this of course leads to 

complaints and frustrations and candidates contacting the GCC! 

The real problem with the revised Test of Competence is that the ethos of the test and the 
individuals tasked with delivering it are working from a flawed premise that somehow 
overseas graduates are inferior to our own graduates in the UK. 
The underlying principles of the test should be 

1. We need more Chiropractors in the UK  - the numbers of registered Chiropractors serving our 

communities are not growing at the same rate as other professions 

2. It should be very rare for anyone trained at a recognised (CCE accredited) institution to be 

rejected by the TOC panel 

3. There is no evidence of ‘patient safety’ issues in the cases we have been made aware of 

4. It should be acknowledged that overseas graduate Chiropractors are making considerable 

sacrifices and efforts to come to the UK and paying their way to sit a test for which there is 

garbled guidance at best 

5. There is a specific and urgent need for locums and associate Chiropractors as evidenced by 

the back pages of the association magazines 

6. The previous TOC cut off the flow of overseas DCs and needed dismantling, not to be replaced 

by a worse situation! 

7. The GCC has repeated previous mistakes and appointed the wrong people to be in charge of 

the TOC set-up and to be on the panels, being now in effect gatekeepers to entry into the UK 

The comments noted above from candidates for the TOC spark the obvious questions that 
need to be answered urgently. 

1. Why are educationalists involved in this panel when there is obviously a bias involved in their 

understanding of other educational programmes compared to their own? They should not be 

having such a say on the diversity of the profession given their outdated statement recently 

published on their education programmes runs almost in tandem with the old ‘subluxation’ 

farce from years ago 

2. What practice experience do these educationalists have outside of the educational institution?  

3. What understanding of the requirements of the profession in regards standards of practitioners 

do these people have? 

4. Why are the panels commenting on scope or style of practice? That is surely for the GCC to 

decide if a case comes before them. As previously mentioned, there is no evidence that 

overseas graduates are less safe than our own UK graduates. To be able to say that someone 

was essentially safe and competent and then require them to do 4 or 5 dissertations on topics 

not essential to practising safely in the UK is beyond funny. 

5. Why do the panel only reference research that fits with their own model of Chiropractic and not 

other Chiropractic research that is relevant to the practising Chiropractor? We note in particular 

a comment regarding the research models of Dr Heidi Haavik in New Zealand which were 

dismissed by the panel. 

6. Why was a candidate criticized for wishing to examine the spine in the caseof an extremity 

complaint? If someone has an extremity complaint, it would be normal practice to check the 

spine as well as the extremity since the nerve supply comes from there! It is not up to a panel 

of educationalists who are teaching in a fear based model to decide what is or is not good 

practice in the practising Chiropractor’s toolbox. 
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7. The examining panel appear to be wary about taking x-rays in clinical practice. Why is this? 

One of the indications for requiring radiographic examination is the presence of neurological 

signs or symptoms. A subluxation (or any other name they wish to call it) by nature has a 

neurological component. Presence is an indication for x-rays (amongst other reasons). 

Chiropractic radiologists frequently comment to us that Chiropractors do not take enough 

radiographs given that they can be essential in case management and delivery of care for that 

case. 

8. How does clinical audit ensure that one is competent and safe to practice in the UK? One of 

the candidates has been required to complete a 2000 word dissertation on this topic. This is 

totally irrelevant to being safe and competent to practice in the UK.  

9. We have concerns regarding the use of Evidence-based care and its limited understanding 

being used to fit a model of Chiropractic. What about practitioner experience?  

10. Candidates who have failed have been required to write further dissertations. A paper (2000 

words) regarding active involvement of patients in their care requested. Why? Surely as soon 

as you prescribe ice/stretching advice etc that is active involvement? Giving a patient a report 

of findings also allows active involvement and discussion in their care. Most of the people on 

these panels will exam and adjust the same visit with no thought for patient 

information/education. This requirement is a complete farce. 

11. How does an understanding of drugs and their interactions ensure that a Chiropractor is 

competent and safe to practice as a Chiropractor in the UK? Most drugs change every year in 

their make-up – that is why the BNF is published every 4 months and why it can be used as a 

reference to check up on the drugs/medication being used. Drugs.com can be used to show 

interactions. Why has the panel requested a dissertation on this topic from one candidate who 

had been told he was essentially safe to practice in the UK? 

Based on all the information noted in this vote of no-confidence in the Test of Competence 
process, we urgently request a review of the whole testing procedure. We would respectfully 
ask that no more candidates be accepted to sit this test until the GCC have completely 
replaced it with one which is fair and sensible after seeking advice from the profession. 
 
 
We look forward to hearing from you by return. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
Kevin Proudman  Bernadette Martin  Ross McDonald 
President, UCA  Chair, MCA   President, SCA 
 
AUKC Executive Directors 
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To:  The Council, General Chiropractic Council 
 
From:  Paul Ghuman, Director of Resources and Regulation 
 
Subject: Annual accounts for 2014, Letter of Representation and Audit 

Findings Report 
 
Date:  18 June 2015 
 
1. Purpose 
 

To consider the Annual Accounts for the year ended 31st December 2014 and the 
Letter of Representation. 

 
2. Recommendation 

 
2.1. Council is asked to:  

2.1.1. Approve the Annual Accounts for 2014 and the Letter of Representation.  

2.1.2. Authorise the Chair of Council to sign the Annual Accounts for 2014 and 
the Letter of Representation 

3. Background 
 
3.1. The GCC is required to produce Annual Accounts that have been audited under 

s41(2) of the Chiropractors Act (the Act).  

3.2. The Annual Accounts will form part of the Annual Report & Accounts which must 
be laid in Parliament on an annual basis. 

3.3. The draft Annual Accounts for 2014, (attached as Annex A), were considered by 
the Audit Committee at its meeting  13th May 2015 and are recommended by the 
Committee for adoption.  

3.4. Through discussions with the external auditor and the Director of Resources and 
Regulation, the Committee satisfied itself that the accounts were properly 
prepared and were in accordance with applicable law, regulations and 
accounting standards.  
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3.5. The Committee considered the Audit Findings Report, (attached as Annex C), 
from Haysmacintyre which confirmed that the external auditor was satisfied in 
respect of all audit and accounting matters. There were two small control points 
raised. Firstly, there was a recommendation to implement a journal file, which 
the executive has agreed to implement. Secondly, to highlight that there was 
one purchase order that was not signed in the period. The executive agreed that 
this will be monitored more carefully  as we will now  have purchase orders for 
all goods and services. Other than these two matters, they identified no 
significant weaknesses in financial systems and controls.  

3.6. The external auditor, Haysmacintyre, who audited the accounts have confirmed 
that they provide a true and fair view of the GCC’s affairs for the year ended 31st 
December 2014 and have been produced in line with United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice. 

3.7. The Council is required to sign a Letter of Representation, (attached at Annex 
B), covering Council Members’ responsibilities in producing the financial 
statements.  

 

4. Report on the Annual Accounts 2014 

4.1. Council will note that there were relatively few extraordinary events in 2014, in 
stark contrast to 2013. 

4.2. The main changes to the accounts relate to the presentation of the gains and 
losses on the investment portfolio and also the tax charges relating to the 
investment portfolio.  These accounting changes were agreed both by 
Haysmacintyre and  the Audit Committee. 

4.3. The accounts show that the organisation had 17 months of reserves at the end 
of 2014.  

4.4. Investment Portfolio income had increased as a result of fully utilising the initial 
investment into a targeted allocation by the investment managers. The transfer 
of funds to the investment manager did not take place until late 2013 and 
therefore there was limited time in 2014  to initiate investment performance.  

4.5. The Investment portfolio market value had increased from the initial investment 
of £4M to £4.21M as at 31st December 2014. 

4.6. Income had increased by £165k to £2.37M if the exceptional item relating to the 
sale of the property in 2013 is excluded.  This represents an increase of 7%. 

4.7. Expenditure had reduced by £336k to £2,481K. This represents a reduction of 
almost 12%. 

4.8. The GCC was able to make further progress in the processing of a  large 
proportion of Fitness to Practice (FtP) cases which had not been dealt with 
adequately in prior years. We are pleased to report that the number of 
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complaints received in 2014  dropped in that year to 65  from an average of 80 
per annum in the previous two years.  

4.9. The bulge in PCC cases arose as a result of an increase in referrals from the 
GCC’s Investigating Committee (IC). This was  an inevitable consequence of an 
increase in complaints received in both 2012 and 2013 in addition to  dealing 
with the unprocessed complaints from previous years. 

4.10.  In order to deal with this bulge in cases referred from the IC in a timely manner 
, Council agreed that the number of hearings days in both 2013 and 2014 would 
be increased. There were 127 hearing days in 2014 (118: 2013, 50: 2012, 24: 
2011). It is anticipated  that we will have dealt with the backlog of PCC cases by 
the middle of 2015.  

4.11. As a result of efficiency savings implemented in the last three years, the PCC’s 
costs  reduced by £201K in 2014. 

5. Proposals 
 
The Council is requested to adopt the Financial Statements for 2014 and agree that the 
Chair of Council should sign both the Financial Statements and the Letter of 
Representation on behalf of Council. 
 
6. Financial implications 
 
The cost of publishing and communicating the annual report and accounts will be 
covered by existing budgets. 
 
7. Legal Implications 
 
There are no legal implications arising from this paper 
 
8. Risk Implications 
 
The GCC is required to submit a copy of the annual report and accounts to the Privy 
Council Office for laying in each House of Parliament.  
 
9. Equality Implications 
 
There are no equality implications arising from this paper 
 
10. Communications Implications 
 
The annual report and accounts will be published on the GCC website. 
 
The Letter of Representation, once signed, is to be sent to the auditors, Haysmacintyre. 
 
 

Paul Ghuman 
 

Email: p.ghuman@gcc-uk.org 
 

Telephone: 020 7713 5155 
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Financial statements 

Status 
The General Chiropractic Council is a body corporate established under the provisions of the Chiropractors Act 
1994 (enacted on 5th July 1994). The Council is governed by the rules and regulations set down in the 
Chiropractors Act 1994. 

The Members of the Council 
The following individuals served as the Members of the Council during the period 1st January 2014 to the 31st 
December 2014. During the year one registrant member was appointed to fill a vacancy from the prior year. A lay 
member also resigned during 2014 and a new lay member took up office in 2015. Elizabeth Qua was re-
appointed for a further period of 4 years.  

Name Type of member Date of appointment End of office 

Sophia Adams Bhatti Lay 1st April 2013 31st March 2017 

Marie Cashley Chiropractor 1st July 2012 30th June 2016 

Roger Creedon Lay 9th  February 2009 8th  February 2016 

Christina Cunliffe Chiropractor 9th  February 2009 13th June 2015 

Roger Dunshea Lay 1st April 2013 31st March 2017 

Tom Greenway Chiropractor 1st January 2014 31st December 2018 

Gareth Lloyd Chiropractor 1st April 2013 31st March 2017 

Suzanne McCarthy Chair 9th February 2013 8th February 2017 

Julie McKay Chiropractor 1st  May 2009 30th  April 2016 

David Plank Lay 9th  February 2009 15th  April 2014 

Grahame Pope Lay 9th  February 2009 8th  February 2016 

Elizabeth Qua Lay 6th  June 2011 5th  June 2019 

Julia Sayers Chiropractor 1st July 2012 30th June 2016 

Gabrielle Swait Chiropractor 1st April 2013 31st March 2017 
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Legal and administrative details 

 

Chief Executive & Registrar 
David Howell  

Principal address 
44 Wicklow Street London WC1X 9HL 

Solicitors  
Field Fisher Waterhouse  
35 Vine Street  
London EC3N 2AA  

Bankers 
Santander Bank 
Bridle Road  
Bootle  
Merseyside  
L30 4GB 

Allied Irish Bank GB  
PO Box 52496 
London 
NW3 9ED 

Auditors 
haysmacintyre 
26 Red Lion Square 
London 
WC1R 4AG 
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Report of the Council 
The Members of the Council submit their report and the financial statements of The General Chiropractic Council 
(“GCC”) for the year ended 31st December 2014 

Objectives 
The Council was established to develop and regulate the chiropractic profession within the United Kingdom.  

Principal activities 
The Council’s principal activities are: 

• to protect the public by establishing and operating a scheme of statutory regulation for chiropractors similar to 
the schemes for other health professionals such as medical doctors and dentists; 

• to set the standards of chiropractic education, practice and conduct; and 

• to develop the profession of chiropractic. 

Financial review 
The results for the year show a surplus of £4,073 (2013: £606,616 surplus) before taxation. The 2013 surplus 
included £1.2M relating to the sale of 44 Wicklow Street. 

The Council is dependent on income from registration and retention fee income. Income from registrants has 
increased by £63,500 in 2014 to £2,246,300 (2013: £2,182,800).  

Expenditure has decreased by £335,847 in 2014 to £2,481,041 (2013: £2,816,888). The decrease is primarily 
due to a reduction in regulatory costs achieved by having more casework performed by an in house legal team 
rather than using external solicitors.  

The members of Council consider that the organisation is a going concern and the financial statements have 
been prepared on this basis. The Council has general reserves to cover seventeen months’ running costs as at 
31st December 2014.  

 

Auditor 

Statement as to disclosure of information to the Auditor 
The members of the Council at the date of approval of this report of the Council confirm that, so far as each of 
them is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Council’s auditor is unaware and the members 
of the Council have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the auditor is aware of that information. 

Approved by the Council on 18 June 2015 and signed on its behalf by: 

 

 

 

Suzanne McCarthy 

Chair 
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Members’ responsibilities in the preparation of financial statements  
The members of the Council are responsible for preparing the Report of the Council and the Financial Statement 
in accordance with applicable law and regulations. 

The Chiropractors Act 1994 requires the Members of the Council to prepare financial statements for each 
financial year, which give a true and fair view of the General Chiropractic Council’s state of affairs at the year-end 
and of its surplus or deficit for the financial year. In preparing those financial statements the Members are 
required to: 

a) Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

b) Make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and 

c) Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 
Council will continue in operation. 

The Members are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at 
any time the financial position of the Council and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply 
with the requirements of the Chiropractors Act 1994. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the 
Council, and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
The Members have sought assurance from the Chief Executive that there are no other matters which require 
disclosure in relation to these statements. 

The Members are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information on the 
Council’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 
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Independent auditor’s report to the Members of the General Chiropractic Council  

 

We have audited the financial statements of the General Chiropractic Council for the year ended 31 December 

2014 which comprise the Income and Expenditure Account, the Balance Sheet, and the related notes. The 

financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom 

Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 

 

This report is made solely to the Members, as a body, in accordance with the Chiropractors Act 1994. Our audit 

work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Members those matters we are required to state to them 

in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 

assume responsibility to anyone other than the General Chiropractic Council and the Members as a body, for our 

audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 

Respective responsibilities of the Members of the Council and auditors 

As explained more fully in the Members’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 4, the Members of the 

Council are responsible for the preparation of financial statements which give a true and fair view. 

 

We have been appointed as auditors under the Chiropractors Act 1994 and report in accordance with that Act. 

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory 

requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 

 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 

A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is provided on the Financial Reporting Council's 

website at www.frc.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate. 

 

Opinion on financial statements 

In our opinion the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the General Chiropractic Council’s affairs as at 31 December 

2014 and of its incoming resources and application of resources, for the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 

Practice; and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Chiropractors Act 1994. 

 

haysmacintyre   26 Red Lion Square 

Statutory Auditor  London 

  WC1R 4AG 

18 June 2015 

    

haysmacintyre is eligible to act as an auditor in terms of section 1212 of the Companies Act 2006 
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Income and expenditure account for the year ended 31st December 2014 

    Year ended  Year ended  
  31st December  31st December  
 Notes 2014  2013 

 
 

INCOME      
Registration fees – New registration  115,250   118,200   
Annual retention  2,095,600   2,040,800   
Other income 1 35,450   23,800   
Bank interest receivable  6,355   23,477   
Investment Income 3 119,763  1,116  
Profit on sale of assets  -  1,216,111  
TOTAL INCOME  2,372,418   3,423,504   
      
EXPENDITURE      
Staff costs 4 897,846   803,647   
Staff expenses  24,758   20,288   
Regulatory costs 5 733,205   1,020,161   
Grant Expenditure re Revalidation 2,15 6,660   79,061   
Council expenses 6,17 190,852   232,973   
Professional fees 7 188,819   146,700   
Publicity  10,765   9,930   
Printing  9,325   9,061   
Postage  19,821   22,287   
Stationery  7,810   9,678   
Telephone  8,519   8,876   
Office costs  17,166   171,627   
Accommodation costs  257,280  128,498  
Direct costs of room hire  -   6,093   
Computer costs  42,962   58,662   
Insurance  27,325   23,542   
Subscriptions  943   -   
Other sundry expenses  -   3,950   
Bank charges  1,160   1,074   
Mortgage interest  -   6,996   
Depreciation  35,825   53,784   
TOTAL EXPENDITURE  2,481,041   2,816,888   
      
OPERATING (DEFICIT)/SURPLUS      
BEFORE TAXATION AND MOVEMENT ON 
INVESTMENTS  (108,623)  606,616  
      
Realised (losses) / gains on investments 10 (34,385)  -  
Unrealised gains / (losses) on investments 10 147,081  -  
SURPLUS BEFORE TAXATION  4,073  606,116  
      
Taxation 8,14 (33,547)  -  
      
(DEFICIT)/SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD  (29,474)  606,616  
      

The operating deficit for the period arises from the Council’s continuing activities.   
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Balance Sheet as at 31st December 2014 
  31st December  31st December 

 Notes 2014  2013 

  £  £ 

FIXED ASSETS     

Tangible assets 9 40,873   64,070  

Leasehold premises 9 89,125  99,897 

Investments 10 4,209,798  4,106,631 

     

CURRENT ASSETS     

Debtors 12 22,169   19,282  

Cash at bank   1,857,843   1,859,406  

  1,880,012  1,878,688 

CREDITORS     

Amounts falling due within one year 13 (2,587,249)  (2,519,895) 

     

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES  (707,237)  (641,207) 

     

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT     

LIABILITIES  3,632,559 

 
 3,629,391 

      

CREDITORS     

Provisions and other liabilities  (32,642)   -  

     

TOTAL ASSETS LESS TOTAL LIABILITES  £3,599,917  £3,629,391 

     

     

     

FUNDS OF THE COUNCIL     

General reserves 15 3,313,301  3,439,282 

Revaluation Reserve 15 

 
209,798  106,631 

Department of Health Grant 15 76,818  83,478 

TOTAL FUNDS  £3,599,917  £3,629,391 

 

Approved and authorised for issue by the Members of Council on 18 June 2015, and signed on their behalf by: 

 

 

 

Chair 

Suzanne McCarthy 
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Financial statements for the year ended 31st December 2014 

 

Accounting policies 

 

Basis of accounting 
The financial statements have been prepared to comply with current statutory requirements, and under the 
historical cost convention in accordance with applicable accounting standards. The financial statements have 
been prepared on a going concern basis. 

Pension contributions 
The Council makes payments on behalf of certain employees into defined contribution pension schemes. The 
assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the Council, being invested with independent insurance 
companies. 

Income 
Registration fees, annual retention fees, other income and letting income are recognised on an accruals basis 
according to the period to which it relates. 

Bank deposit interest is credited on a received basis. 

Tangible fixed assets 
Tangible fixed assets are stated at historical cost less depreciation. 

Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets, other than freehold land, at rates calculated to write each 
asset down to its estimated residual value evenly over its expected useful life, as follows: 

Freehold buildings over 50 years 

Computer equipment over 3 years 

Furniture & office equipment over 5 years 

All assets are written off a year after they have been fully depreciated. 

Deferred taxation 
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated, but not reversed at the 
balance sheet date, where transactions or events that result in an obligation to pay more tax in the future, or a 
right to pay less tax in the future, have occurred at the balance sheet date. Timing differences are differences 
between the company’s taxable profits and its results as stated in the financial statements. 

Deferred tax is measured at the average tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which timing 
differences are expected to reverse, based on tax rates and laws that have been enacted, or substantially 
enacted, by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax is measured on a non-discounted basis. 

Investments 

Investments are included in the financial statements at market value at the balance sheet date. The movement 
on the value of the investments in the year has been included in the revaluation reserve. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31st December 2014 

 

 

  Year ended  Year ended 
  31st December  31st December 
  2014  2013 
  £  £ 
1 OTHER INCOME    

 Restoration fee 11,450  7,800 

 Non-practising to practising fee 24,000  16,000 
  £35,450  £23,800 
     
2 DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH GRANT     

 

  2014  2013 
  £  £ 

 Balance brought forward  83,478  162,539 

 Income -  - 

 Expenditure (6,660)  (79,061) 
 Balance carried forward £76,818  £83,478 

 

3 INVESTMENT INCOME -  - 
 

Investment income relates to dividends, bank interest and other receivables from the investment 
portfolio. As the portfolio was not set up until late 2013, the income received for this period was 
£1,116. As the initial capital sum has now been fully invested in line with the investment strategy, the 
income for 2014 has increased to £119,763. 

 

4 STAFF COSTS    
     

 

The average monthly number of persons 
(excluding the Members) employed by the 
Council during the year was as follows: 

13.5  11 

  Year ended  Year ended 
  31st December  31st December 
  2014  2013 
 Staff costs for the above persons: £  £ 
 Wages and salaries 685,801  623,789 
 Social security costs 79,884  72,952 
 Other pensions costs 57,523  39,094 
 Temporary staff costs 44,548  51,282 
 Staff recruitment costs 30,090  16,530 

  £897,846  £803,647 
  

The increase in staff numbers has resulted in an increase in wages and salaries of £62,012 to 
£685,801 in 2014.  
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5 REGULATORY COSTS    

  
Year ended 

31st December 2014  
Year ended 

31st December 2013 

  £  £ 

 General regulation 2,632  9,462 

 Registration 12,416  12,472 

 Education Committee 17,706  81,330 

 Investigating Committee 68,717  81,266 

 Professional Conduct Committee 624,480  826,072 

 Committee Social security costs 7,254  9,559 

  £733,205  £1,020,161 

 

Professional Conduct Committee costs have decreased by £201,592 in 2014 due to the introduction 
of an in house legal team rather than using external solicitors and barristers.  

Education Committee costs have reduced as projects are now analysed within professional fees and 
also a reduction in external administrative support for the Committee. 

 

  
Year ended 

31st December 2014  
Year ended 

31st December 2013  

6 COUNCIL EXPENSES     

  £  £  

 Members’ fees 105,643  108,085  

 Social security costs 2,150  4,016  

 Expenses 47,940  41,123  

 Organisation development 2,803   3,797   

 Committee and Council appointments 32,316  75,952  

  £190,852  £232,973  

 

Since February 2013, Council members have been remunerated by way of an annual salary of 

£6,650 with the Chair of Council being remunerated at £23,000 per annum. There was an 

appointment process for two Council members in the year, both of whom will take up office in 2015. 
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Year ended 
31st December 

2014  

Year ended 
31st December 

2013  

7 PROFESSIONAL FEES     
  £  £  
 Legal fees 34,248  57,882  
 Auditors’ remuneration:     
     Audit fees 10,850  10,850  
     Accountancy services (including Value Added Tax advice) 1,266  2,790  
 Other advisory services 4,303  7,304  
 Database design, development, and support 30,443  42,914  
 Human resources and job evaluation 1,907  7,107  
 Appointment of Investment Manager -  5,520  
 Website design and development 2,790  4,200  
 Project costs 81,744  -  
 Investment Manager fees 12,338  -  
 Data protection and FOIA advice 8,930  8,133  
  £188,819  £146,700  

 

Project costs are specific additional activities agreed by Council in achieving the business plan.  

8 TAXATION 

It is the understanding of the Members that the Council is only subject to UK Corporation Tax on its investment 
income, which includes bank interest receivable. 

  

Year ended 
31st December 2014 

£  

Year ended 
31st December 

2013 

£ 

Current year tax:    
UK corporation tax (current tax charge) 905  - 
Deferred tax – origination and reversal of timing differences 32,642  - 
Tax charge per the income and expenditure account 33,547  - 
    
Factors affecting the tax charge for the year:    
Operating surplus/(deficit) before taxation 4,073  606,616 

Tax on loss on ordinary activities at the relevant rate  
of UK corporation tax of 20% (2013: 20%) 815  121,323 
Effects of:    

Elements of the operating deficit that are not taxable 484,396  319,051 
Income not taxable for tax purposes (466,800)  (436,560) 
Dividend and distribution income (14,740)  (223) 
Utilisation of tax losses brought forward (2,766)  2,766 
Capital allowances in excess of depreciation -  (6,357) 
Current tax charge 905  - 
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9 FIXED ASSETS        
         

  

 

Leasehold 

 
Computer 

equipment  

Furniture & 
office 

equipment Total 
 Cost:        

 1st January 2014  107,717  57,399  26,696 191,812 
 Additions  -   1,857  -  1,857  

 
Disposals and write 
offs 

 
- 

 
-  - - 

 31st December 2014  107,717  59,256  26,696 193,669 
         
 Depreciation:        

 1st January 2014  7,820  16,327  3,698 27,845 

 
Charge for the 
period 

 
10,772  

 
19,715   5,339  35,826  

 
Disposals and write 
offs 

 
-  

 
 -  -  -  

 31st December 2014  18,592  36,042  9,037 63,671 
         
 Net book value:        
         

 31st December 2014  89,125  23,214  17,659 129,998 
         

 31st December 2013 
 

- 
 

41,073  22,988 
 

163,967 

 

10   FIXED ASSET INVESTMENT  

 

 
  

2014 
 

2013 

  
£ 

 
£ 

Investments 
    Market Value: 1st January 2014 
 

3,742,795 
 

3,635,935 
Additions at cost 

 
617,321 

 
-          

Disposal proceeds 
 

(386,490) 
 

- 
Unrealised Gains/(losses) 

 
147,081 

 
106,860  

Realised Gains/(losses) 
 

(34,385) 
 

- 

  
4,086,322 

 
      3,742,795  

Cash 
 

120,680 
 

             
363,838  

Accrued Income 
 

2,796 
 

- 

     Market Value: 31st December 2014 
 

4,209,798 
 

4,106,633 
 

 
The net gain on the portfolio for 2014 is £112,696 and the initial investment in the portfolio was £4M. 

 
11 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS     
  

At 31st December 2014, the Council had an annual commitment under a non-cancellable operating 
lease as follows: 

  
 

2014 2013 
  Building  Building   
 Expiring within:     
 2-5 years 84,000  84,000  
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12 DEBTORS: 2014  2013 
  £  £ 
 Due within one year:    
 Trade debtors 907  813 
 Other debtors 11,845  8,036 
 Prepayments and accrued income 6,747  10,433 
 Corporation Tax 2,670  - 
  £22,169  £19,282 

  

  2014  2013 
13 CREDITORS:    
 Amounts falling due within one year: £  £ 
 Trade creditors 206,814  230,250 
 Retention fees in advance 2,172,000  2,097,350 
 Other taxes and social security 39,210  43,581 
 Other creditors 33,675  30,828 
 Accruals and deferred income 135,550  117,886 
  £2,587,249  £2,519,895 
 

14 PROVISIONS AND OTHER LIABILITIES      

  
2014  2013 

  £  £ 

 Deferred tax liability 33,642  - 

The deferred tax liability comprises potential capital gains tax on investments. 

 

15 FUNDS         

  B/B/F  Income   Expenditure  

Gains, 
losses 

and 
Transfers B/C/F 

 General Reserves 3,439,282  2,372,418  (2,507,928)  9,529 3,313,301 

 Revaluation Reserve 106,631  -  -  103,167 209,798 

 
Department of Health 
Grant 83,478   -  (6,660)  – 76,818 

 Total Funds 3,629,391  2,372,418  (2,514,588)   112,696 3,599,917 

 

General Reserves – The Council has no restrictions on the use of these funds for the carrying out its 
statutory duties. General Funds comprise all of the assets and liabilities of the Council except for those 
that are held in cash and form the assets of the Department of Health Grant Fund as explained below 

Revaluation Reserve – The investments are shown at market value in the balance sheet and the 
revaluation reserve identifies the difference between the book value and market value on the last day of 
the financial year. 

Department of Health Grant - The General Chiropractic Council received a grant from the Department of 
Health to enable the Council to develop a risk proportionate system of revalidation for chiropractors.  
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16 PENSION COMMITMENTS 

The Council makes payments on behalf of employees into defined contribution pension schemes. The 
assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the Council, being invested with independent 
insurance companies. The pension charge for the period is shown in note 3 to the financial statements. 

 

17 COUNCIL MEMBERS’ FEES AND EXPENSES 

 2014 2013  
 Fees (1) Expenses paid (2) Fees (1) Expenses paid (2) 
Sophia Adams Bhatti 6,650 309 4,987 326 
David Byfield  - - 300 129 
Martin Caple  - - 683 290 
Marie Cashley 6,650 2,737 6,200 4,999 
Roger Creedon  6,650 - 6,350 7 
Christina Cunliffe  6,650 1,388 8,266 3,286 
Peter Dixon  - - 3,450 3,304 
Roger Dunshea 6,650 2,763 6,147 2,451 
Tom Greenway 6,650 116 - - 
Gareth Lloyd 6,650 1,637 4,987 236 
Suzanne McCarthy  23,000 1,487 21,305 625 
Julie McKay  6,650 1,501 7,100 1,395 
David Plank  1,944 279 9,216 573 
Grahame Pope  6,650 2,218 8,200 0 
Elizabeth Qua 6,650 3,423 7,100 4,873 
Julia Sayers 6,650 343 7,907 535 
Chris Stephens - - 300 164 
Gabrielle Swait  6,650 689 4,987 638 
Judith Worthington - - 600 729 

 

The table above shows the fees payable for work done in the year and actual reimbursed expenses 
only. 

(1) Fees 

Members of Council were paid a daily attendance fee of £300 up to 8th February 2013. Thereafter, 
members are remunerated on a salary of £6,650 per annum. The Chair’s remuneration is £23,000 per 
annum. These payments are subject to tax and National Insurance.  

(2) Expenses 

Expenses were claimed by members for travel, accommodation and subsistence, and reimbursed by 
the GCC. With regard to accommodation, some members book and pay for accommodation 
requirements directly and these expenses are reimbursed by the GCC in line with the expenses policy. 
For most members, the GCC will book accommodation requirements and make payments directly to 
the hotel for the accommodation.  

Council meeting attendance 

The Council met on six occasions in 2014. Some of these were two day meetings.  

 

32



 
C-180615-5  Annex B 

 
haysmacintyre  
26 Red Lion Square 
London 
WC1R 4AG 
 
 
Date: 
 
 
Dear Sirs  
 
During the course of your audit of our financial statements for the year ended 31 December 
2014the following representations were made to you by management and Council Members on 
behalf of the General Chiropractic Council.   
 
1 We have fulfilled our responsibilities as Council Members for preparing financial statements 

in accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (UK GAAP) that give a true 
and fair view and for making accurate representations to you as auditors. 
 

2 We confirm that all accounting records have been made available to you for the purpose of 
your audit, in accordance with your terms of engagement, and that all the transactions 
undertaken by the Council have been properly reflected and recorded in the accounting 
records. All other records and related information, including minutes of all management 
and Council Members' meetings, have been made available to you. We have given you 
unrestricted access to persons within the organisation in order to obtain audit evidence and 
have provided any additional information that you have requested for the purposes of your 
audit. 
  

3 We confirm that significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, 
including those measured at fair value, are reasonable. 
 

4 We confirm that all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be 
considered when preparing the financial statements have been disclosed to the auditor and 
accounted for and disclosed in accordance with UK GAAP. 
 

5 We confirm that there have been no events since the balance sheet date which require 
disclosing or which would materially affect the amounts in the accounts, other than those 
already disclosed or included in the accounts.  

 
6 We confirm that the related party relationships and transactions set out in the declarations 

provided to you are a complete list of such relationships and transactions and that we are 
not aware of any further related parties or transactions and the transactions have been 
accounted for and disclosed in accordance with UK GAAP. 
 

7 We confirm that the financial statements correctly disclose the Council Members’ 
remuneration and reimbursement of expenses. 

  
8 We confirm that the organisation has not contracted for any capital expenditure other than 

as disclosed in the financial statements. 

 
 

E0043670 
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9 We confirm that we are not aware of any possible or actual instance of non-compliance 

with those laws and regulations which provide a legal framework within which the 
organisation conducts its business and which are central to the organisation’s ability to 
conduct its business.  
 

10 We acknowledge our responsibility for the design and implementation of controls to prevent 
and detect fraud. We confirm that we have provided you with the latest copy of our risk 
assessment.  We confirm that we have considered the risk of fraud and disclosed to you 
any actual or suspected instances of fraud involving management or employees who have 
a significant role in internal control or that could have a material effect on the financial 
statements. We also confirm that we are not aware of any allegations of fraud by former 
employees, regulators or others. 
 

11 We confirm that, having considered our expectations and intentions for the next twelve 
months and the availability of working capital, the General Chiropractic Council is a going 
concern.  
 

12 The effects of unadjusted misstatements are immaterial, both individually and in aggregate, 
to the financial statements as a whole.  
 

We confirm that the above representations are made on the basis of enquiries of management and 
staff with relevant knowledge and expertise (and, where appropriate, of supporting documentation) 
sufficient to satisfy ourselves that we can properly make these representations to you and that to 
the best of our knowledge and belief they accurately reflect the representations made to you by 
the Council Members during the course of your audit. 
 
 
 
 
Yours faithfully 
Signed on behalf of the Council by:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Suzanne McCarthy 
 Chair of Council   
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1. Introduction and Executive Summary 

This report summarises our key findings in connection with the audit 
of the financial statements of The General Chiropractic Council for 
the year ended 31 December 2014. 

We would like to take this opportunity of thanking you and your staff 
for the assistance and co-operation we have received during the 
course of our work. 

Our audit approach 

Our work was planned and performed in order to issue an audit 
opinion on the financial statements of the company in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (“ISAs”) 
and the terms of our letter of engagement.  

Limitations 

Our audit procedures, which have been designed to enable us to 
express an opinion on the financial statements, included the 
examination of a number of transactions of the Council and the 
controls in place over them.  

Our audit included consideration of internal controls relevant to the 
preparation of the financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control or to 
identify any significant deficiencies in their design or operation.  

We have included in this report only those matters that have come to 
our attention as a result of our normal audit procedures and, 
consequently, our comments should not be regarded as a 
comprehensive record of all deficiencies that may exist or 
improvements that could be made. 

 

 

 

 

Overall conclusion and opinion 

At the time of issuing this report we anticipate issuing an unqualified 

opinion, without modification on the financial statements. 

We look forward to discussing this report with your Audit Committee.   

This letter is for your private use only. It has been issued on the 
understanding that it will not be disclosed to any third party without 
our prior written consent and no responsibility is assumed by us to 
any other person other than the Council Members of the General 
Chiropractic Council. 
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2. Audit risks and key judgement areas identified during planning 

We set out below the key areas of focus for our audit identified at the planning stage and the conclusions of our audit work: 

Audit risk/key judgement area How we addressed this Our comments 

Presumed risk in revenue recognition 

We are required to consider and respond to the 
risks of fraud arising from improper revenue 
recognition.  

 

Detailed testing was performed on the revenue 
recognised in the period covering the accuracy, 
completeness and occurrence of the income 
recognised. 
Detailed cut-off testing was also completed on 
income recognised to ensure it was recorded in 
the correct period. 

 

Planned audit work considered to be 
satisfactory in this area. 
 

Presumed risk of management override  

We are required to consider and respond to the 
risks of fraud arising from management override 
of controls.  

 

 

 

 

We reviewed the appropriateness of general 
journal entries posted throughout the year and 
at the year-end for the preparation of the 
financial statements. 

Accounting estimates were reviewed for 
potential bias. 

  

 

Planned audit work considered to be 
satisfactory in this area. 
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3. Accounting and Audit Matters 

1. Qualitative aspects of accounting practices and financial 

reporting 

No matters arose during the course of our audit where significant 
professional judgement needed to be applied or where accountancy 
practices were not in line with expectation. 
 

2. Misstatements 

Our audit work identified no misstatements other than clearly trivial 

items. 

3. Letter of representation  

International Standards on Auditing require us to obtain written 
representations from the directors when you approve the accounts. 
The letter contains only standard matters with no additional items 
specific to the General Chiropractic Council. We would be grateful if 
you could arrange for the text to be inserted into a letter to us on the 
Council’s letter headed paper and for the letters to be signed when 
the accounts are approved at the Council meeting. 
 

4. Other matters 

Financial Reporting Framework 

The General Chiropractic Council currently prepares its financial 
statements under UK GAAP financial reporting standards. There 
are currently a number of changes to financial reporting which will 
impact on Council’s accounts and will need to be considered.  

FRS 102 becomes mandatory for accounting periods commencing 
on or after 1 January 2015, although early adoption is permitted.  

Entities adopting FRS 102 will be required to prepare an opening 
balance sheet at the date of transition which will be 1 January 2014 

for those with a 31 December 2015 year-end (i.e. the start of the 
comparative period). The General Chiropractic Council will need to 
adjust the values of assets, liabilities and reserves and change 
certain disclosures in compliance with the new requirements. The 
first FRS 102 accounts will include reconciliations of the changes in 
reserves at the date of transition and the surplus or deficit for the 
comparative period. 

We have included a summary of the significant changes that may affect 
you. 

 

Holiday pay - FRS 102 explicitly includes a requirement to provide for 

unutilised holiday entitlement at the year-end.  The entity should 

calculate the number of holiday days taken and make an accrual for any 

unutilised accrued holiday. 

Leases Under current UK GAAP the value of rent-free periods, and 
other incentives, are spread over the period to the first rent review. 
Under FRS 102, lease incentives are spread over the entire lease term. 
FRS 102 requires the disclosure of the total future minimum lease 
commitment (under current UK GAAP it is only the annual amount).  
This would impact   

Cash flow statement FRS 102 requires the cash flow statement to be 
prepared using only three classifications, namely: operating activities, 
investing activities and financing activities. 

However, there is currently a proposal (FRED 59) for smaller entities to 
follow FRS 102 section 1A for accounting periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2016. For the General Chiropractic Council this would be the 
financial statements ending 31 December 2016. FRS 102 section 1A 
follows FRS 102 for recognition and measurement purposes, but with 
some relaxation on disclosure and presentation e.g. no cash flow 
statement, and no extensive pension disclosures.  
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We are advising all of our Healthcare Regulator clients of the impact 
of FRS 102 and are looking to achieve consistency where 
appropriate.  We will discuss with you later in the year the impact of 
both accounting and financial reporting of these changes, so that 
you can implement the new regulations.   

  

C-180615-5 Annex C

39



The General Chiropractic Council – Audit Findings Report  

 

5 

 

4. Financial review 
The purpose of this section of the report is to set out the key financial 
trends and to provide our perspective on the overall financial position. 

Income & Expenditure Account 

 2011 2012 2013 2014 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Incoming resources     

Registration & retention fees 2,561 2,099 2,159 2,211 

Grant Income 70 200 - - 

Investment income 8 6 25 126 
Sale of assets 1 - 1,216 - 

Other incoming resources 432 289 24 35 

Total incoming resources 3,072 2,594 3,424 2,372 

     

Resources expended     

Staff costs & expenses 824 847 824 923 

Regulatory costs 1,038 804 1,020 733 

Grant revalidation 21 108 79 7 

Council expenses 211 247 233 191 

Professional fees 130 112 147 176 

Premises & accommodation 237 242 300 274 

Depreciation 148 106 54 36 

Investment management fees - - - 12 

Other costs 211 189 160 129 

Total resources expended 2,820 2,655 2,817 2,481 

Net (outgoing)/incoming resource 252 (61) 607 (109) 

Net Gain/Loss in investments - - - 113 

Tax Charge in the year (32) (7) - (34) 

Deficit/Surplus in the year 220 (68) 607 (30) 

 

A reduction in the level of annual retention fees from £1,000 in 2011 to £800 
thereafter, resulted in a significant drop off in fee income from 2011. Since the 
reduction in fees was introduced, fee income has been steadily climbing due to 
a steady increase in the number of registrants, climbing by 5.3% since 2012. 

This is the first year the accounts show movements in the investment portfolio 
as the portfolio was established in late 2013.  This is represented by a unrealised 
gain of £147k and a realised loss of £34k. Costs associated in managing the 
portfolio totalled £12k in the year.  Returns on the investment portfolio totalled 
£120k in 2014 compared to £1k in 2013. 

Sale of the office premises in 2013 inflated overall income by £1,216k, but also 
led to a reduction in other incoming resources due to the loss of room hire 
income. 

A general increase in staffing costs over the four year period of £99k arose as a 
result of wage increases, as staff numbers have remained relatively consistent 
in the same time frame. The average wage has risen due to the employment of 
highly skilled individuals, such as the in-house legal team. 

Regulatory costs have fluctuated significantly in the time-period analysed, from 
a high of £1,038k in 2011 to a low of £733k in 2014, this is largely due to the 
fluctuations in the number of cases brought to the GCC each year. The average 
cost per case in 2014 has reduced to approximately 1/3 of the 2011 average 
cost, which accounts for the cost reduction despite almost double the number of 
cases being received each year along with 128 unprocessed cases. Referrals 
to a hearing have consequently increased which led to a spike in  regulatory 
costs in 2013 as cases were determined by the Professional Conduct 
Committee. Although the same level of cases were considered in 2014, the 
costs are lower as a result of a higher percentage of cases being presented by 
the in house legal team.  

Grant revalidation costs have reduced as the GCC reviewed the system of 
revalidation that it would implement.  The remaining balance on the DoH grant 
reserve (£77k) has been designated to the implementation of any new system 
and work will continue on this project in 2015.  

Council fees and expenses have reduced from £198k in 2012 to £156k in 2014.  
Depreciation costs have significantly fallen as a result of the sale of the property.  
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Balance Sheet 

 2011 2012 2013 2014 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Non-Current Assets     
     

Tangible fixed assets 4,380 4,291 164 129 
Investments - - 4,107 4,210 
     
Current Assets     
     

Debtors <1yr  71 103 19 22 
Cash  2,730 2,117 1,859 1,858 
     
Current Liabilities     
     

Creditors <1yr (3,069) (2,460) (2,520) (2,587) 
Provisions & other liabilities - - - (33) 
     
Non-Current Liabilities     
     

Creditors >1yr (1,128) (1,135) - - 
     
     

Net assets 2,984 2,916 3,629 3,599 

     
Represented by:     
     

Department of Health Grant 70 162 83 77 
General Reserves 2,914 2,754 3,546 3,522 
     

Total funds 2,984 2,916 3,629 3,599 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Balance Sheet Highlights 

The balance sheet trends highlight the impact of the property sale in 2013 
through a reduction in fixed assets of £4,127k from 2012. The proceeds were 
used to repay the long term bank loan liability and the remaining amounts were 
deposited into an investment portfolio. The value of investments has increased 
by £298k at the end of 2014. 

The fall in trade debtors following the 2012 accounting period is indicative of no 
longer hiring rooms since the sale of the property. . 

Current liabilities are significantly higher in 2011 compared to all other periods 
analysed due to high levels of deferred income in respect of “retention fees 
received in advance”. This value is significantly higher in 2011 as a direct result 
of the higher retention fees charged compared to all subsequent years. An 
amount was also included in 2011 non-current liabilities in respect of the DoH 
grant that had been received. At this date, it was unclear as to whether the grant 
would need to be repaid and was therefore could not be recognised as income. 

Current liabilities in 2011 & 2012 also included an amount due in respect of the 
bank loan in the following accounting period of approximately £73k. In 2014 
there is a deferred tax liability in relation to the movement in the investment 
portfolio.  

Fund Highlights 

Total funds have remained static compared to 2013. The 2013 funds increased 
significantly from 2012 level because of the disposal of the property which 
generated more cash than the value of the asset in the books. 

The designated income funds have generally been falling due to expenditure 
recorded against the DoH grant funding received in 2011 and 2012, with no 
further income being received in respect of this fund. 
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5. Detailed control points  

During the course of our audit we identified the following detailed control points that we believe should be brought to the attention of the Council Members 
and certain recommendations for improvements and or corrective action. We wish to bring the following matters to your attention which arise from the 
current year audit as well as the latest status of outstanding issues arising from previous year audits: 

Current year 

Issue Risk Our comments Client Comment 

Journals 

Routine journals are posted on a 
monthly basis as well as any correcting 
journals when needed. We noted there 
was no evidence of review prior to 
posting of the journals.  

 
 
Ideally, journals should not be posted to 
the ledger without approval. The lack of 
review can potentially lead to fraudulent 
journals being posted as well as errors 
not being picked up. 

 
 
Best practice would be to keep a 
journals file. The journals would need to 
be reviewed and approved prior to 
posting. Spot checks should also be 
carried out on journals already posted 
through the use of an listing generated 
from SAGE. The evidence of this 
review should be kept on file. 

 
 
The executive agree that a journal file 
would be an enhancement of the 
control in this area and will implement 
immediately. It should be noted that 
journal entries are already checked on 
an monthly basis when preparing 
management accounts. 

 
Purchase orders 

Whilst we appreciate this is a one off, 
we noted that one purchase order was 
not authorised (ref: 3440).   
 
We also noted that if there are existing 
contracts in place and that the supplier 
issues several invoices in the year only 
one Purchase Order is completed and 
kept with the original invoice.   
 
 

 
 

There is a risk that unbudgeted 
expenses are transacted. 

 

 
We suggest that all purchase orders 
are approved and copies of approved 
purchase order forms are attached to 
all invoices at the time the invoice is 
approved. 

 
 

The executive agrees that purchase 
orders should and in the large majority 
of cases are attached to all invoices. 
We will monitor this closely during this 
year. 
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Prior year 

Issue Risk Our comments Current year update 

 

All employees with access to the BACS 
payment system are able to set up & 
authorise a BACS payment on their 
own, without further authorisation. 

 

 

There is an increased risk that 
fraudulent or incorrect BACS payments 
may be paid. 

 

We recommend that a BACS system is 
introduced which requires dual 
authorisation from at least two 
members of senior staff. 

 

A BACS system has been introduced 
which requires two members of senior 
management staff to authorise each 
payment. 

 

Cheque payments are only made 
occasionally. However all cheques up 
to £5,000 only require one signature; 
David Howell.  Above this level, two 
signatories are required. 

 

There is an increased risk that 
fraudulent or incorrect payments may 
be made by the Council. 

 

We recommend that the bank mandate 
is updated to ensure that cheques 
require more than one authoriser. 

 

We are pleased to note that the change 
to the bank mandate was made in April 
2014.  We note that only 26 cheques 
totalling £7,771 were issued in 2014. 
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6. Emerging issues 

The following are certain key issues which affect and which have 
recently come into effect or are currently being debated and are likely 
to impact the sector within the next year.  Whilst we hope that you 
will find all of this section of interest. 

Amendments to FRS102 and companies financial reporting 
framework 

On 19 February 2015, the Financial Reporting Council published 
FRED59 which includes draft amendments to FRS102 The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland 
relating to small entities. This follows the publication by the 
Department for Business, Innovation and Skills (“BIS”) in January 
2015 of the Government’s response to the consultation on UK 
implementation of the EU Accounting Directive, which will drive 
changes to the small company size criteria.  

Implementation of FRED59 will see the withdrawal of the Financial 
Reporting Standard for Smaller Entities (“FRSSE”) for accounting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. All companies, other 
than micro-entities, will therefore be required to adopt the recognition 
and measurement requirements of FRS102 from that date, with early 
adoption likely to be permitted. FRED59 includes a number of 
disclosure exemptions for small entities (all entities which fulfil the 
small company size criteria even if they are not companies), of which 
the two most significant are exemption from the requirement to 
include a Statement of Cash Flows and exemption from the 
requirement to disclose the aggregate remuneration of key 
management personnel. 

Additionally, FRED59 includes other changes arising from the 
implementation of the EU Accounting Directive which will affect 
reporting entities of all sizes.  

BIS has indicated that it intends to introduce regulations early in 
2015, with effect for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2016 but with early adoption permissible, which will make 
significant changes to the companies reporting regime, including: 

 Increasing the small company size criteria to the maximum 
allowed in the Directive (£10.2million turnover; £5.1million 
gross assets; 50 employees). 

 Allowing companies in the same group as a non-listed public 
company access to the small or medium-sized company 
regimes. 

 Allowing companies to use alternative layouts for their 
primary statements. 

 Requiring goodwill to be written off over no more than 10 
years in “exceptional circumstances”, where its useful 
economic life cannot be reliably estimated. 

The audit requirement will continue to be linked to the small company 
size thresholds, pending the conclusion of a separate consultation. 

The FRC is inviting comments on FRED59 by 30 April 2015. Details 
of the FRC consultation, along with FRED59, can be found at:  

https://www.frc.org.uk/News-and-Events/FRC-
Press/Press/2015/February/FRC-consults-on-amendments-to-UK-
and-Irish-GAAP.aspx  

The BIS response to the implementation of the EU Accounting 
Directive is available at:  

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachmen
t_data/file/398885/bis-15-36-uk-implementation-of-chapters-1-9-of-
the-eu-accounting-directive-government-response-to-the-
consultation2-final.pdf  
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IT MATTERS 

Data Protection and PCI Compliance 

Data Protection legislation is well known for being complex and 
burdensome not only on corporate organisations, but also 
increasingly on charity and not for profit bodies.  A number of public 
announcements on breaches have arisen as a result of organisations 
sharing information, or asking third party providers to process data 
on their behalf.  It is however, still the responsibility of the primary 
organisation to ensure that this data is secure. 

With many charities holding personal information on donors and 
beneficiaries, it is key to ensure that the data protection legislation is 
understood and being adhered to.   

Within your charity you should have designated a Data Protection 
Officer.  This person should receive appropriate training for the role, 
and provide regular (at least annually in our view) reports to Trustees 
to provide comfort that internal policies and procedures are in place, 
communicated to relevant staff and being followed. 

As part of this review, organisations that collect payment card 
information (PCI) from purchasers of goods, donations or 
memberships fees etc., should also be aware of the strict 
requirements over storage of information and the need for PCI 
Compliance.  This legislation covers situations where you store, 
process and transmit payment card information. Penalties for 
breaching the regulations are severe.  Again, we recommend a 
review and report to trustees annually to provide comfort over 
adherence to these regulations. 

If you require further information in either of these areas, do contact 
us. 

 

 

 

TAX MATTERS 

HMRC Boosting Compliance Capacity 

HMRC continues to make statements about their achievements to 
date and their future intentions.  Of note is that 1,700 additional 
officers were receiving training in 2014 to increase revenue collected 
and provide ‘better service for customers’, and 5,463 people moved 
to new or different compliance roles to help meet commitments to 
bring in extra revenue of £7billion a year by 2015. 

Inevitably we have seen that additional resource is being channelled 
into regulatory visits.  Charity taxation, particularly in relation to VAT 
and self-employed status assessments can be complex, and it will be 
important for Trustees to gain assurance from the Senior 
Management Team that they are up to date with these regulations 
and compliance matters generally.   

Make use of update training sessions and if you have complex tax 
positions it may be worth seeking regular independent assessments 
or seek tax investigation insurance to protect your position and/or 
provide additional comfort. 

Employment Tax issues 

Following the Chancellor of the Exchequer’s Autumn Statement, 
which he delivered on 3 December 2014, the following represents the 
changes which are currently being reviewed by the Parliamentary 
Finance Committee as part of the draft Finance Bill (2015). 

 An exemption for qualifying business expenses which will 
replace the current P11D Dispensation agreements 
(effective from 6 April 2016) 

 Abolition of the £8,500 threshold for lower paid employment 
and form P9D (effective from 6 April 2016) 

 Statutory provision for trivial benefits (effective from 6 April 
2015) 
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 Voluntary pay-rolling of certain benefits in kind (opportunity 
will be available from 6 April 2016) 

There has been no further development in respect of proposed 
changes to the tax and National Insurance legislation in relation to 
either: 

a) Provision of living accommodation; or 

b) Termination payments 

Both of the above matters have been the subject of a review by the 
Office of Tax Simplification in 2014 and may be re-visited again after 
the General Election. 

Energy Act 2011 – Relevant for organisations that rent property 

Ever since their introduction in 2007 EPCs, or Energy Performance 
Certificates to give them their full name, have often been regarded 
as a bureaucratic necessity in order to "tick a box".  However, over 
the next few years EPCs are likely to increase in importance as by 
April 2018, and possibly earlier, you may be prevented from letting, 
or continuing to let, a building if it has an EPC lower than an “E”.  
Although three years away, there are issues for landlords and tenants 
to consider and, possibly, address now. 

Background 

As part of the drive to reduce carbon and other greenhouse gases, 
the Energy Act 2011 (“the Act”) placed an obligation on the Secretary 
of State for Energy and Climate Change to introduce regulations that 
would prevent a landlord letting a property which had an EPC below 
a rating set out in, as yet unpublished, regulations.  This minimum 
energy rating is widely expected to be set at “E” and is the rating 
referred to on the Department of Energy and Climate Change 
(“DECC”) website.  Similar legislation applies to "domestic" and "non-
domestic property", being the terms used in the Act, with both having 
a backstop date for the enabling regulations to come into force of no 
later than 1 April 2018.   

In practical terms the Act will apply to all rented property, subject to 
some exemptions, whatever the use of the property.   

Regulations will also be brought in, no later than 1 April 2016, to give 
tenants of domestic properties the ability to make certain energy 
efficient improvements.  Landlords will be unable to unreasonably 
refuse consent to such improvements although it is expected that 
refusing on the grounds that the proposed improvements would have 
a negative impact on the value of the property will be acceptable. 

The definition used in the Act of “let the property” is explicitly defined 
as to “maybe include “continue to let the property””.  We could 
therefore be faced with landlords and tenants having to be in 
properties with an EPC of no worse than an “E” rating by 2018.  In 
the meantime there are many issues to consider, such as, who 
should pay for the improvements, the timing of any work, the potential 
for disruption during such works, the effect on property valuations, 
whether dilapidation provisions need revisiting and the effect on rent 
reviews. 

However, there is some good news in that it is likely that the 
requirements will be subject to there being no upfront cost to 
landlords.  Landlords are expected to have fulfilled their responsibility 
if: 

 they have reached the minimum energy rating required; or 

 have carried out the maximum package that will be funded 
under the Green Deal and/or the Energy Companies 
Obligation schemes, both of which are designed to support 
the energy efficiency improvements.  

It is also expected that certain buildings will be exempt from the 
regulations, such as listed buildings where improvements would 
unacceptably alter their character and buildings that are due to be 
demolished.  
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What are the Regulations? 

We know what the Act will require but not, as yet, the detail of how it 
will be implemented as the draft regulations have yet to be published.  
Although the Government had intended to withhold details of the 
regulations until closer to implementation, thanks to lobbying and 
representations from interested parties, DECC set up two working 
parties to consider the practical implications of the regulations.  
However, we are still waiting to see the working parties' 
recommendations to DECC, although they are expected shortly, 
followed by a public consultation late this year.  Nevertheless the end 
game, to improve properties to at least an "E" grade by 2018, is clear.  
Currently, it is estimated that about 20% of commercial property falls 
below such a rating. 

Financing the improvements 

The preamble to the Act sets out one of its objectives as being “to 
make provision for the arrangement and financing of energy 
efficiency improvements to be made to properties by owners and 
occupiers”.  Accordingly there are provisions within the Act to enable 
landlords and tenants to apply for funding support through the “Green 
Deal”. 

Under the Green Deal the cost of upgrading the property is paid back 
through increased energy bills in the future but, unlike a loan, the 
“liability” is attached to the property rather than the person arranging 
the improvements.  Therefore, when a new occupier comes into a 
property which has benefitted from the Green Deal the new occupier 
will face increased energy bills which are likely to make the property 
less attractive with a consequent impact on the property's value.   

The implicit interest rate in such deals has already been heavily 
criticised as being too high and unattractive and it has not had the 
take up the Government expected.  The Labour Party has also 
announced that it will cancel the Green Deal if it wins the next general 
election – but maintain the requirements of the Act.  

 

Impact on tenants 

Tenants will also not escape the impact of the Act.  They will need to 
consider whether they will face unexpected costs as a result of works 
undertaken by their landlord and the implication that the regulations 
will have on their dilapidation liabilities.  Some commentators have 
suggested that tenants might find themselves liable for 
improvements as a result of the creeping up in the conditions to each 
EPC rating in recent years.  For instance, a tenant might have taken 
on a property with a “D” rating which at the end of the lease is rated 
“E”, not through any deterioration in the state of the property but just 
through a rebasing of the EPC ratings.  Depending on the lease terms 
that tenant might find themselves responsible for handing back the 
property in the new definition of a “D” EPC. 

Conclusion 

Although the detailed regulations have still to appear, it is clear that 
property will not escape the Government’s focus on carbon reduction 
and energy efficiency in the next few years.  If you are a tenant 
engage with the landlord on the subject so that you can find out what 
work may be required and, hopefully, minimise any disruption to your 
business.  

 

C-180615-5 Annex C

47



C-180615-6   
 

 

 
To:  The GCC Council 

From:  Penny Bance, Director of Education, Registration and Standards 

Subject:  Review of The Code: Standards of conduct, performance and ethics 
for chiropractors 

Date: 18th June 2015   

 
Purpose  

1. The purpose of this paper is to present a final draft of The Code: Standards of 
conduct, performance and ethics for chiropractors for approval by Council. 

 

Introduction and background 
2. The review of the Code of Conduct and Standard of Proficiency (CoP & SoP) 

started in late 2013. Over the course of the review evidence and comment 
has been gathered from a wide variety of sources.  Consultation was 
conducted on line and through focus groups with a wide range of 
stakeholders. The final version of the renamed The Code: Standards of 
conduct, performance and ethics for chiropractors is attached at Appendix A. 
 

3. Council received a full update on the review process and consultation at its 
meeting in March 2015.   Final amendments were made following the Council 
seminar and legal advice received.  
 

4. The major changes to the Code are that: 
 
i) Rather than a Code of Practice followed by Standard of Proficiency, 

there is now a single, cohesive and shorter, document. A more 
concise Introduction simply reinforces the role and purpose of The 
Code, which is to protect patients and serve the profession through 
setting core ethical principles of practice and standards of conduct 
and behaviour to which chiropractors registered with the GCC must 
adhere;   

 
ii) There is no longer any ‘guidance’ within the document, although 

separate guidance will be produced on specific aspects.  The removal 
of guidance within the document was partly to overcome any 
inference that some aspects of the document were mandatory and 
some voluntary;  

 
iii) There is a set of Patient and Public Expectations of chiropractors for 

each of the Principles; 
 
iv) The Code is structured differently than before:  
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a. There is a new introduction with an informative section on the 

GCC; 
b. It contains eight principles - in no particular order;  
c. Every principle contains a number of Standards which are 

mandatory and therefore must be met by every registrant.  
d. References to legislation and other sources have been removed 

from the Code, but will be retained on the GCC site as a tool for 
people to refer to (Appendix B). 

 
v) To provide greater clarity and avoid misinterpretation each Standard is 

obligatory and is preceded by ’you must’. 
 

vi) We have introduced some new Standards including Standards 
relating to the Duty of Candour.  

 
vii) The only Standards to have been removed from the current CoP & 

SoP include those on running a business, such as financial records, 
as these were deemed to be out of scope of the remit of the regulator.  

 

Implementation  
 

5. Effective implementation of The Code is critical to its success and there is a need 
to ensure there is a clear implementation plan in place.  

6. The publication date should be 30th June 2015 and the implementation date 
should be 30 June 2016 as the Chiropractors Act stipulates that: 

(3) If the Council at any time varies the standard so determined it shall publish a statement of 
the revised standard, accompanied by a statement of the differences between that standard 
and the standard as it was immediately before the revision.  
 
(4) No variation of the standard shall have effect before the end of the period of one year 
beginning with the date on which the Council publishes the statements required by subsection 
(3) in connection with that variation.  
 

7. This period will give sufficient time for the effective communication of the new 
Code and would mean that registrants will have sufficient time to absorb the content 
of the new Standards prior to their implementation. This will in turn reduce the risk to 
patients of registrants not adhering to the new Standards.  

8. Appendix C sets out the communications strategy and implementation plan for 
the Code.  
 
Next steps  
9. After the Council meeting the design, printing and publication of The Code will be 
affected. 

10. A communications plan has been developed and there will be substantial 
communications activity throughout 2015/16 to ensure that all registrants and key 
stakeholders are made aware of the new Standards.  
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Equality and diversity implications  
11. An equalities impact assessment is included in Appendix D.  Equality and 
diversity issues have been considered throughout the review.  

 
Communications Implications 
 
12. A communications strategy and implementation plan has been developed for the 
new Code and is included in Appendix C.  

 
 
Action required 
13.  The Council is asked to  

• approve the Code; and 
• comment and advise on any improvements to the communications 

strategy and implementation plan.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Contact 

Penny Bance, Director of Education, Registration and Standards 

p.bance@gcc-uk.org  
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Appendix A 
 

 

 

 

The Code 
 
Standards of conduct, 
performance and ethics 
for chiropractors 
 

Effective from 30th June 2016  

 
 

Final Draft  
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About Us  

 

The General Chiropractic Council (GCC) is the regulator for the 
chiropractic profession in the UK. Our overall purpose is to protect 
the public and our duty is to develop and regulate the profession of 
chiropractic. 

We do this by setting standards of education for individuals training 
to become chiropractors, and by setting standards of professional 
conduct and practice for practising chiropractors.  

Everyone calling themselves a chiropractor in the UK must be 
registered with us. To be registered with us, an individual must 
satisfy the educational requirements for registration and be fit to 
practise, by which we mean they have the skills, knowledge, good 
health and character to practise the profession safely and 
effectively.  

We have clear and transparent processes in place for investigating 
and taking appropriate action against chiropractors who are alleged 
to be unfit to practise because of personal health issues, incompetent 
performance or unacceptable professional conduct. A serious failure 
to follow this Code and Guidance issued by us could see a 
chiropractor removed from our register and be unable to practise as 
a chiropractor in the UK. 

It is important to note that this Code should be interpreted by all 
readers in the spirit in which it is produced: where an unintentional 
or minor breach of a standard has taken place, this will not 
automatically involve or necessitate a Fitness to Practise 
investigation by the GCC.  

Putting patient health interests first is an important principle for 
professionals and, as a result, promotes and encourages trust. Our 
Code sets out patient expectations followed by the principles and 
standards: taken together, these make clear what good chiropractic 
looks like.  
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Introduction 
This Code, prepared by the General Chiropractic Council1, sets out 
standards for conduct, performance and ethics for chiropractors to 
ensure the competent and safe practice of chiropractic. 

The Code specifies the principles and standards applicable to all 
chiropractors whose duty as primary healthcare practitioners is to 
promote the health and wellbeing of their patients. There are eight 
Principles2, each of which incorporates a number of Standards 
relating to conduct, behaviour and ethics, all of which chiropractors 
must practise.   

The word “must” throughout the Standards confirms to the 
profession and informs the public that these are standards which 
have to be met. While a chiropractor can interpret these principles 
and standards in different practice settings through the exercise of 
professional judgment, they are not negotiable or discretionary.   

The Code has two purposes: its primary purpose is to help 
chiropractors uphold the highest standards of care and conduct. Its 
other purpose is to make clear the quality of care that patients 
should reasonably expect from registered chiropractors. The section 
entitled Patient expectations is written for Chiropractors. It may 
also be used by patients to help them understand what can be 
reasonably expected of the profession.  

The provision of chiropractic care in the UK is based on 
professionalism. This places practising chiropractors in a position of 
trust; trust which is earned by education, experience and by 
providing safe, effective and quality care.  

When joining the register, and subsequently renewing their 
registration, chiropractors commit to upholding these standards and 
continuing their professional development. This is a fundamental 
requirement for a regulated profession.  

Professionalism is an integral theme throughout the Code.   

Professional health practitioners not only provide safe, effective and 
compassionate care of a high standard but ensure their behaviour 
outside the workplace is equally professional. The standards in this 
Code are intended to help with this objective.  

Every chiropractor has a responsibility to meet these standards and 
to apply the ethical principles underpinning them while placing the 
health and wellbeing of their patients at the centre of their work.  

 

1 As required by the Chiropractors Act 1994. The Code encompasses both a standard of proficiency and standards of conduct 
and practice.  
2 The eight principles are of equal importance and are not listed in any order of priority.  
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Important note regarding guidance 

The General Chiropractic Council produces separate, supplementary 
guidance, for the purposes of providing helpful and constructive 
advice for practising chiropractors in implementing the Code. The 
guidance is not exhaustive and will be updated from time to time.  

Such guidance is on the GCC website at www.gcc-uk.org 

This is also where current and relevant legislation is collated in a 
reference document. The standards for conduct, performance and 
ethics must be applied in the context of legislation relating to 
patients as individuals for example Data Protection, Equality, 
Human Rights, etc.   

In order to keep themselves up-to-date, as required by the 
Standards within the Code, chiropractors must review and refer to 
the guidance on a regular basis.   

Chiropractors must follow the guidance, use their professional 
judgement, demonstrate insight at all times and justify any decision 
that is not in line with the guidance. This requirement will be made 
clear each time guidance is published.  
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Patient and public expectations of chiropractors 

Ensuring that patients understand, and are actively involved in, 
their care is a key underpinning theme of professional conduct by 
chiropractors.    

Patients reasonably expect chiropractors to: 

Put the health interests of your patients first 
o  Listen to patients and take their preferences and concerns into 

account. 

o  Treat patients as individuals with dignity and respect for their culture 
and values.  

o  Be trustworthy and responsible and protect patients from harm. 

o  Care for patients in a clean and safe environment. 

 

Act with honesty and integrity and maintain the highest 
standards of professional and personal conduct 
o  Be properly qualified, registered and insured.  

o  Consider all aspects of patient health and wellbeing and give care that 
is appropriate to patient needs. 

o  Be honest with patients and act to resolve issues accordingly if 
something goes wrong. 

o  Be professional at all times and strictly maintain patient confidentiality. 

 

Provide a good standard of clinical care and practice 
o  Only recommend care based upon the most appropriate evidence that 

meets patient preferences.  

o  Cease care if asked to, or if in the patient’s best interests, and provide 
guidance about other forms of care or healthcare professionals. 

o  Carry out any assessment or administer care, as required, in 
accordance with the high standards of the profession while adhering to 
applicable regulatory standards. 

o  Review and re-assess the effectiveness of care plans, and give 
feedback to patients about the care they receive. 

 

Establish and maintain a clear professional relationship with 
patients 
o  Follow current professional healthcare guidance on sexual boundaries 

and not breach them. 

o  Ensure the focus of the professional relationship is on meeting patient 
health needs. 
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Obtain informed consent for all aspects of patient care 
o  Ask for consent to care before care starts and check the patient 

continues to give their consent to assessments and care. 

o  Provide accurate, relevant and clear information to enable informed 
decisions. 

o  Always ask for patient consent where items of clothing need to be 
adjusted or removed where necessary for examination or care. 

o  Obtain patient consent before sharing personal information with third 
parties if it becomes necessary as part of professional responsibilities. 

 

Communicate properly and effectively with patients, 
colleagues and other healthcare professionals 
o  Take account of patient communication needs and preferences. 

o  Explain clearly what patients can expect from care, the likely outcomes 
and any risks or benefits. 

o  Listen and act upon any complaints patients might have. 

o  Refer to or seek expertise from other chiropractors and healthcare 
professionals, when needed. 

 

Maintain, develop and work within your professional 
knowledge and skills 
o  Maintain and update professional knowledge and skills throughout your 

working life as a registered chiropractor. 

o  Consult with other chiropractors or healthcare professionals when 
needed. 

o  Ensure you and others working with patients only work within the limits 
of their knowledge, skills and experience.  

 

Maintain and protect patient information 
o  Ensure patient records are up to date, complete, accurate and legible. 

o  Keep personal details confidential but inform patients of any breaches 
of confidentiality. 

o  Store their records securely but make their records accessible to them 
where required as prescribed by law. 

o  Adhere to GCC standards and to regularly read all GCC Guidance. 

 
 

57



C-180615-6  Appendix  A 

 

Principles 
 

As a chiropractor you must: 
 
A Put the health interests of your patients first 

B Act with honesty and integrity and maintain the 
highest standards of professional and personal 
conduct 

C  Provide a good standard of clinical care and 
practice  

D Establish and maintain a clear professional 
relationship with patients 

E Obtain informed consent for all aspects of patient 
care  

F Communicate properly and effectively with your 
patients, colleagues and other healthcare 
professionals  

G Maintain, develop and work within your 
professional knowledge and skills 

H Maintain and protect patient information  
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PRINCIPLE A - Put the health interests of your patients 
first 

You must put patients’ health first and ensure you promote their 
health and welfare at all times. You must take account of these 
factors when assessing them, making referrals, or providing or 
arranging care. You must make sure that those receiving care are 
treated with respect, that their rights are upheld and that any 
discriminatory attitudes and behaviours are challenged. 

Standards (A) 
 

You must: 

A1 show respect, compassion and care for your patients by listening to 
them and acknowledging their views and decisions. You must not 
put any pressure on a patient to accept your advice.   

A2 respect patients’ privacy, dignity and cultural differences and their 
rights prescribed by law. 

A3 take appropriate action if you have concerns about the safety of a 
patient. 

A4 treat patients fairly and without discrimination and recognise 
diversity and individual choice. 

A5 prioritise patients’ health and welfare at all times when carrying out 
assessments, making referrals or providing or arranging care. 
Respect a patient’s right for a second opinion. 

A6 treat patients in a hygienic and safe environment.  

A7 safeguard the safety and welfare of children and vulnerable adults. 
As a professional, you must fulfil your legal obligations if you 
suspect that a child or vulnerable adult is at risk from abuse or 
neglect by following established local procedures for reporting that 
suspicion. 
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PRINCIPLE B – Act with honesty and integrity and 
maintain the highest standards of professional and 
personal conduct  

You must act with honesty and integrity at all times and uphold high 
standards of professional conduct and personal behaviour to ensure 
public confidence in the profession. You must be guided in your 
behaviour and practise at all times by the principle that the health 
and well-being of a patient comes first. You must follow procedures 
set down by the regulator. 

Standards (B) 

You must: 

B1 protect patients and colleagues from harm if your health, conduct 
or performance, or that of a regulated healthcare professional, puts 
patients at risk.  

B2 ensure you, and any chiropractor who works with you on a 
contractual basis, are properly qualified, registered and insured. 

B3 use only honest, legal and verifiable information when publicising 
yourself as a chiropractor, advertising your work and/or your 
practice including on your website. The information must comply 
with all relevant regulatory standards.  

B4 strictly maintain patient confidentiality when communicating 
publicly or privately, including in any form of social media or when 
speaking to or writing in the media. 

B5 ensure your behaviour is professional at all times, including outside 
the workplace, thus upholding and protecting the reputation of, and 
confidence in, the profession and justifying patient trust. 

B6 avoid placing any undue financial pressure on a patient to commit 
to any long term treatment that is not justified. 

B7 fulfil the duty of candour by being open and honest with every 
patient. You must inform the patient if something goes wrong with 
their care which causes, or has the potential to cause, harm or 
distress.  You must offer an apology, a suitable remedy or support 
along with an explanation as to what has happened.   

B8 justify and record your reasons for either refusing care or 
discontinuing care for a patient. You must explain, in a fair and 
unbiased manner, how they might find out about other healthcare 
professionals who may be able to offer care. 
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B9 follow established procedures for informing the GCC if you are 
subject to criminal proceedings or a regulatory finding has been made 
against you anywhere in the world. You must cooperate with the GCC 
when asked for information.
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PRINCIPLE C – Provide a good standard of clinical care 
and practice 

You must uphold the high standards of the chiropractic profession 
by delivering safe and competent care to each patient. This applies 
to all aspects of clinical practice and patient care.  

Standards (C) 

You must: 

C1 obtain and document the case history of each patient, using suitable 
methods to draw out the necessary information. 

C2 when carrying out a physical examination of a patient use diagnostic 
methods and tools that give due regard to patient health and 
dignity. You must document the results of the examination in the 
patient’s records and fully explain these to the patient.  

C3 use the results of your clinical assessment of the patient to arrive at 
a working diagnosis or rationale for care which you must document. 
You must keep the patient fully informed. 

C4 develop, apply and document a plan of care in full agreement with 
the patient. You must check the effectiveness of the care and keep 
the plan of care under review. A more formal reassessment of the 
effectiveness of the plan of care must be undertaken at intervals 
that suit the patient and their needs. All subsequent modifications to 
the plan of care must be discussed and agreed with the patient and 
properly documented. 

C5 select and apply appropriate evidence-based care which meets the 
preferences of the patient at that time. 

C6 cease care, or aspects of care, if this is requested by the patient or 
if, in your professional judgment, the care will not be effective, or if, 
on review, it is in the patient’s best interest to stop. You must refer 
the patient to another healthcare professional where it is in their 
best interests. 

C7 follow appropriate referral procedures when making a referral or a 
patient has been referred to you; this must include keeping the 
healthcare professional making the referral informed. You must 
obtain consent from the patient to do this.  

C8 ensure that investigations, if undertaken, are in the patient’s best 
interests and minimise risk to the patient. All investigations must be 
consented to by the patient. You must record the rationale for, and 
outcomes of, all investigations. You must adhere to all regulatory 
standards applicable to an investigation which you perform. 

C9 ensure all equipment used in your practice is safe and meets all 
relevant regulatory standards. 
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PRINCIPLE D – Establish and maintain a clear 
professional relationship with patients 
 

The professional relationship between a chiropractor and a patient 
depends upon confidence and trust. It is your duty to uphold that 
trust and confidence. 

You must establish and maintain clearly defined professional 
boundaries between yourself and your patients to avoid confusion 
or harm and to protect the welfare and safety of patients and those 
who care for them. 

Standards (D) 
 
You must: 

D1 not abuse the position of trust which you occupy as a professional. 
You must not cross sexual boundaries as this causes harm and 
confusion to patients and/or their carers.  

D2 be professional at all times and ensure you, and any staff you 
employ, treat all patients with equal respect and dignity.  

D3 explain the reason to the patient if there is a need for the patient to 
remove items of clothing for examination; if that needs to happen, 
you must offer the patient privacy to undress and the use of a 
gown. 

D4 consider the need, during assessments and care, for another person 
to be present to act as chaperone; particularly if the assessment or 
care might be considered intimate or where the patient is a child or 
a vulnerable adult. 
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PRINCIPLE E – Obtain informed consent for all aspects of 
patient care  
Patient consent must be voluntary and informed. It is your duty to 
ensure the patient has all the necessary information and support 
they need in order to give it. You must ensure that, when the 
circumstances of a patient’s care changes, the patient continues to 
consent to treatment. (NB: The term patient has been used 
throughout this principle but consent may need to be obtained from 
a representative chosen by or appointed to act on behalf of a 
patient). 

Standards (E) 

You must: 

E1 share with the patient accurate, relevant and clear information to 
enable the patient to make informed decisions about their health 
needs and relevant care options. You must also take into 
consideration a patient’s capacity to understand. 

E2 obtain and record consent from a patient prior to starting their care 
and for the plan of care. 

E3 check with the patient that they continue to give their consent to 
assessments and care. 

E4 ensure the consent of a patient is voluntary and not under any form 
of pressure or undue influence. 

E5 seek parental consent first if a child is to be seen without someone 
else being present, unless the child is legally competent to make 
their own decisions. 

E6 always obtain a patient’s consent if it becomes necessary for the 
purposes of examination and treatment during care, for you to 
adjust and/or remove items of the patient’s clothing.  

E7 obtain and record the express consent (i.e. orally or in writing) from 
the patient regarding sharing information from their patient record. 
You must not disclose personal information to third parties unless 
the patient has given their prior consent for this to happen - see 
also H2. 
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PRINCIPLE F – Communicate properly and effectively 
with patients, colleagues and other healthcare 
professionals 
The relationship between a chiropractor and a patient is built on 
trust, confidence and honesty.  You must communicate effectively 
with patients in order to establish and maintain a professional 
relationship and encourage patients to take an informed role in their 
care. 

Standards (F) 

You must: 

F1 explore care options, likely outcomes, risks and benefits with 
patients, encouraging them to ask questions. You must answer fully 
and honestly, bearing in mind patients are unlikely to possess 
clinical knowledge. 

F2 have visible and easy-to-understand information on patient fees, 
charging policies and systems for making a complaint. These 
policies must include the patient’s right to change their mind about 
their care, and, their right to refer any unresolved complaints to the 
GCC. 

F3 involve other healthcare professionals in discussions on a patient’s 
care, with the patient’s consent, if this means a patient’s health 
needs will be met more effectively. 

F4 take account of patient communication needs and preferences. 

F5 listen to, be polite and considerate at all times with patients 
including regarding any complaint that a patient may have. 

F6 provide information to patients about all individuals responsible for 
their care, distinguishing, if needed, between those responsible for 
delegated aspects and for their day-to-day care. This must include 
the arrangements for when you are not available. 
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PRINCIPLE G – Maintain, develop and work within your 
professional knowledge and skills 
As a healthcare professional you are required to use your 
professional judgement to recognise and work within the limits of 
your own knowledge, skills and competence to ensure patient safety 
and protect the reputation of the profession.  

To assure your continuing fitness to practise you must maintain and 
develop your professional knowledge, skills and performance in 
accordance with the requirements set out by the GCC. 

Standards (G) 

You must: 

G1 keep your knowledge and skills up to date, taking part in relevant 
and regular learning and professional development activities that 
aim to maintain and develop your competence and improve your 
performance and the quality of your work. 

G2 maintain your knowledge to ensure it is up-to-date and accurate in 
terms of the law, regulations relevant to your work and GCC 
guidance. 

G3 recognise and work within the limits of your own knowledge, skills 
and competence. 

G4 make clear the limits of your competence and knowledge to 
patients. 

G5 refer to, or seek expertise from, other chiropractors or healthcare 
professionals, when needed. 

G6 not require anyone else to take on responsibilities for patient 
assessment and care where it would be beyond their level of 
knowledge, skills or experience. 
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PRINCIPLE H – Maintain and protect patient information 
It is your responsibility to maintain and protect the information you 
obtain directly or indirectly in the course of your work. 
Confidentiality is central to the relationship between chiropractor 
and patient.  

The records you keep must be an accurate reflection of the clinical 
encounter and must include any factors relevant to the patient’s 
ongoing care, including their general health. 

Standards (H) 

You must: 

H1 keep information about patients confidential and avoid improper 
disclosure of their personal information. 

H2 only disclose personal information without patient consent, if, after 
having sought appropriate advice it is in the public interest to do so 
or it is required by law.  

H3 ensure your patient records are kept up-to-date, legible, 
attributable and truly representative of your interaction with each 
patient. 

H4 ensure the safe storage of patient records so that they remain in 
good condition and are kept secure. Storage should be for at least a 
period relevant to the age of the patient as prescribed by law. 

H5 make proper arrangements if you close down your practice or move 
clinics or in the event of your death.  You must notify the GCC of 
the arrangements you have made.  

H6 make sure that patient records remain your responsibility, even 
where a patient has moved, unless you have contractually 
transferred this responsibility to another healthcare professional or 
organisation. 

H7 give patients access to their personal health records as required by 
law. 
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Glossary of terms 
Capacity Ability of a patient to understand, remember and 

consider information provided to them. Note: The legal 
framework for the treatment of a child lacking the 
capacity to consent differs across the nations of the UK.  
It is important you operate within the relevant law that 
applies in the nation in which you are practising. 

Care Interventions by chiropractors that are designed to 
improve health, covering: promoting health, 
maintaining health and preventing ill health, and 
addressing health needs. The methods that might be 
used include: 

 manual treatments 

 the use of other technologies − for example, 
ultrasound, traction, relaxation exercises, 
applying hot and cold packs, dry needling 

 advice, explanation and reassurance − for 
example, explaining the kinds of activity and 
behaviour that will promote recovery, giving 
nutritional and dietary advice 

 exercise and rehabilitation 

 multidisciplinary approaches − for example, 
making referrals, joint plans of care with other 
healthcare professionals 

 supporting the patient’s health and wellbeing 
with other carers and stakeholders − for 
example, relatives, employers 

 preventive measures linked to the patient’s 
lifestyle − for example, eating, exercise, stress 
management 

 preventive measures linked to the patient’s 
environment − for example, their home, 
workplace 

 promoting health and wellbeing − for example, 
using behaviour-change approaches. 

Carer  

 

A person of any age, adult or child, who provides 
support to a partner, child, relative or friend who 
cannot manage to live independently or whose health 
or wellbeing would deteriorate without this help.  

Case history Detailed account of a person’s history which results 
from the acquisition of information through interview, 
questionnaires and assessment of medical information. 

Chaperone Person who is present during a professional encounter 
between a chiropractor and a patient, e.g. relatives, 
carers, representative or another member of the 
healthcare team. 
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Child  England, Wales, Northern Ireland and Scotland each 
have their own guidance for organisations to keep 
children safe. They all agree that a child is anyone who 
is under the age of 18.  (A young person generally 
refers to 16 and upwards).  

Clinical 
assessment 

Chiropractor’s evaluation of a disease or condition based 
on the patient’s report of their health (that is, their 
physical, psychological and social wellbeing) and 
symptoms and course of the illness or condition, along 
with the objective findings including examination, 
laboratory tests, diagnostic imaging, medical history and 
information reported by relatives and/or carers and other 
healthcare professionals. 

Consent Acceptance by a patient of a proposed clinical 
intervention after having been informed, as far as 
reasonably can be expected, of all relevant factors 
relating to that intervention. 

Continuing 
Professional 
Development 
(CPD) 

Means by which members of a profession maintain, 
improve and broaden their knowledge and skills and 
develop the personal qualities required in their 
professional lives. The means will be explained on the 
GCC website and updated from time to time. 

Delegate Asking someone else to provide care on a chiropractor’s 
behalf. 

Equipment Instrument, apparatus, appliance, material or other 
article, whether used alone or in combination, including 
the software necessary for its proper application, 
intended by the manufacturer to be used for human 
beings. 

Evidence-based 
care 

Clinical practice that incorporates the best available 
evidence from research, the expertise of the 
chiropractor, and the preference of the patient. 

Health A state of complete physical, mental and social wellbeing 
not merely the absence of disease or infirmity (taken 
from the preamble to the Constitution of the World 
Health Organisation). 

Investigation Clinical study which contributes to the assessment of a 
patient which may include diagnostic imaging technology, 
examining systems and laboratory testing. 

Local 
procedures 

Arrangements set out, developed and published by local 
authorities across the UK for the management of 
referrals and assessments of a child or vulnerable 
person.  

Must This means that the duty as set out in the standard is 
compulsory.  

Patient Individuals who have been given clinical advice or 
assessment and/or care by a chiropractor.  

 
 

69



C-180615-6  Appendix  A 

The term ‘patient’ has been used to save space and is 
intended to cover all related terms that might be used 
such as ‘client’ or ‘service user’. 

Patient 
confidentiality 

Right of an individual to have information about them 
kept private. 

Patient 
examination 

Clinical assessment of a patient with the intention of 
reaching, or reviewing, a rationale for care. 

Patient rights  

 

The standards for performance, ethics and conduct must 
be applied in the context of current and their successor 
legislation specific to patients as individuals – relevant 
current Acts are documented in the reference document 
on the GCC website under publications. 

Plan of care Treatment protocol designed to deliver therapeutic 
benefit to patients following clinical assessment. 

Rationale for 
care 

Reasons why chiropractors are providing treatment for a 
patient. 

Reassessment Formal review of whether the treatment is having the 
desired effect, whether changes to it are required or if 
the patient should be referred to another healthcare 
professional. 

Record Document containing personal information and 
information relating to the clinical assessment and 
working diagnosis or rationale for care of a patient. 
Typically it should include: relevant clinical findings, 
decisions made, actions agreed, names of those involved 
in decisions and agreement; information provided to the 
patient and the name of the person creating the record. 

Referral Transferring of responsibility for care to a third party for 
a particular purpose, such as additional investigation, 
care or treatment that is outside the chiropractor’s 
competence. 

Representative  A person chosen by or appointed to act or speak on 
behalf of a patient. 

Working 
diagnosis 

 

A working decision kept under review. 
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Code 
 

Subject (item in bold is the 
search item) 

Hyperlink 

 
1.  A7, D4, E5 

(glossary) 
Safeguarding of 
children and vulnerable 
adults.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Links also to capacity, and 
consent.  

There is a range of different information on safeguarding children listed here on the GOV.UK website: 
https://www.gov.uk/schools-colleges-childrens-services/safeguarding-children.  
 
See for example: advice for practitioners: What to do if you are worried if a child is being abused. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/what-to-do-if-youre-worried-a-child-is-being-abused--2 
 
The Department for Education published the latest ‘Working together to safeguard children’ guidance 
document in March 2015 – this is also applicable for health service professions working in a school 
environment: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/419595/Working_Toget
her_to_Safeguard_Children.pdf  
 
These documents references the following as sources of guidance about safeguarding children and young 
adults for health care professionals: 
 
• Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health (2014) Safeguarding children and young people: roles 
and competences for health care staff 
http://www.lscbchairs.org.uk/sitedata/files/Safeguarding_Children_Heal.pdf  
 
• Royal College of General Practitioners (2014) Safeguarding Children and Young People: The RC 
GP/NSPCC Safeguarding Children Toolkit for General Practice http://www.rcgp.org.uk/clinical-and-
research/clinical-resources/~/media/Files/CIRC/Safeguarding-Children-Toolkit-2014/RCGP-NSPCC-
Safeguarding-Children-Toolkit.ashx    
 
The NHS Commissioning Board has also published its Safeguarding Vulnerable People in the Reformed NHS: 
Accountability and Assurance Framework (2013): http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2013/03/safeguarding-vulnerable-people.pdf  
 
Children’s Act (2004) 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/pdfs/ukpga_20040031_en.pdf however, this does not 
include any changes made by correction slips; the latest version can be viewed here: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/contents. 
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The first Part of the act is applicable to the UK, however later Parts differ: 

• Part 2 – Children’s services in England  
• Part 3 and 4 – Children’s services in Wales, and Advisory and support services for family 

proceedings (Wales only) 
• Part 5 – Miscellaneous (England and Wales only)  

 
 
Scotland: 
 
The Scottish Government issued the Child Protection Guidance for Health Professionals in 2013: 
http://www.gov.scot/Resource/0041/00411543.pdf  
There are a number of differences as to what constitutes a child in Scotland. 
http://www.gov.scot/Publications/2014/05/3052/3 
 
Children and Young People (Scotland) Act 2014 a "child" will be defined for the purposes of all Parts of 
that Act, as someone who has not attained the age of 18. 
 
 
Wales: 
 
NHS Wales hosts a governance e-manual on its website containing links to guidance ‘Standard 11: 
Safeguarding Children and Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults’:  http://www.wales.nhs.uk/governance-
emanual/safeguarding-children  
 
Children and young people’s right to consent in health settings: On 22 April 2013, the Children’s 
Commissioner for Wales and Welsh Government published a new guide to raise awareness about children 
and young people’s consent in health settings.  It includes practical guidance on what young people should 
expect from health professionals, including nurses, doctors and dentists, and outlines their right to be 
involved in decisions about their health, health care or treatment – a right afforded to them under Article 
13 of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC). 
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sites3/page.cfm?orgid=465&pid=11930 
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Northern Ireland; 
http://www.safeguardingni.org/professionals 
 
Finally, see also advice which is pertinent to hospitals, care homes, care in the home and dentists: 
http://www.cqc.org.uk/content/safeguarding-people 
 

You have a duty under the law to safeguard and protect children and vulnerable adults if you work with them. Those in most need of protection are 
children, young people and adults whose circumstances make them vulnerable.  Section 60 of the Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006 defines a Child 
as “a person who has not attained the age of 18. 

The Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) helps employers make safer recruitment decisions and prevent unsuitable people from working with vulnerable 
groups, including children. It replaces the Criminal Records Bureau (CRB) and Independent Safeguarding Authority (ISA). See: 
https://www.gov.uk/disclosure-barring-service-check/overview 
 
 

2.  A4 Equality 
 

Equality Act 2010: see here:  http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents  
 
Equal opportunities and discrimination are described as “transferred matters” in Northern Ireland and as a 
result, the Equality Act 2010 does not form part of the NI law apart from a few very specific exceptions. 
Instead, the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 remains in force in Northern Ireland.   
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/notes/division/2/6  
 
The Equality Commission for Northern-Ireland have published the relevant equality and anti-discrimination 
laws here:   
http://www.equalityni.org/Footer-Links/Legislation 
 
Equality and Human Rights Commission:  
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/ 
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Scotland 
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/about-us/devolved-authorities/commission-scotland 
 
Wales 
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/about-us/devolved-authorities/the-commission-in-wales 
 
Signposting to resources for healthcare providers  
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/private-and-public-sector-guidance/public-sector-providers/human-
rights-health-and-social-care/human-rights-health-and-social-care-signposting-resources 
 
Human Rights: 
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/your-rights/human-rights/what-are-human-rights/human-rights-act 
 
All public bodies (such as courts, police, local governments, hospitals, publicly funded schools, and others) 
and other bodies carrying out public functions have to comply with the Convention rights.  
 
Signposting to resources relating to Human Rights:  
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/guidance-theme 
 
Further reading (2007): http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/human-rights-healthcare  
 

The Equality Act 2010 aims to: 
 
• eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation 
• advance equality of opportunity 
• foster good relations between different parts of the community 

 
And, it covers the protected characteristics: age, race, disability, gender reassignment, marital or civil partnership status, pregnancy or motherhood, religion or 
belief, sex and sexual orientation 
 
The Equality Act 2010 is fully applicable and forms part of the law in England and Wales, and apart from one chapter (which is not relevant to medical practice) 
the act also applies to Scotland. http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/notes/division/2/3 
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3.  E1 

(glossary) 
Capacity  
 

There is a Code of Practice applicable to England and Wales which acts as guidance on complying with the 
Mental Capacity Act (MCA) 2005:  http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/9/contents 
for those working with people who ‘lack capacity’ to make decisions or take action for themselves: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/224660/Mental_Capacit
y_Act_code_of_practice.pdf  
 
The Department of Health, and the relevant departments in the devolved parliaments/assemblies, have 
published their own sets of guidance for practitioners on gaining consent for examination or treatment: 
• England: 

www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/138296/dh_103653__1_.pdf 
• Northern Ireland: www.dhsspsni.gov.uk/public_health_consent  
• Wales: www.wales.nhs.uk/sites3/Documents/465/WHC%282008%29010.pdf  
• Scotland: http://www.sehd.scot.nhs.uk/mels/HDL2006_34.pdf  
 
The General Medical Council also has links to various Codes of Practice and guidance documents for 
capacity issues:   http://www.gmc-
uk.org/guidance/ethical_guidance/consent_guidance_other_sources_of_information.asp  

No-one else can make a decision on behalf of an adult who has the capacity to do so. Which means they can understand, remember, use and weigh up the 
information needed to make a decision, and can communicate their wishes. 

It should always be assumed that adults have the capacity to make a decision unless it is shown to be otherwise. If you have any doubts, ask 
yourself: ‘Can this patient understand and weigh up the information needed to make this decision?’ 

Unexpected decisions do not prove the patient is incompetent, but may mean there is a need for more information or explanation.  According to the 
NHS the MCA is about: 

• Everyone has the right to make his or her own decisions. Health and care professionals should always assume an individual has the capacity to make a 
decision themselves, unless it is proved otherwise through a capacity assessment.  

• Individuals must be given help to make a decision themselves. This might include, for example, providing the person with information in a format that 
is easier for them to understand.  

• Just because someone makes what those caring for them consider to be an "unwise" decision, they should not be treated as lacking the capacity to 
make that decision. Everyone has the right to make their own life choices, where they have the capacity to do so.  

• Where someone is judged not to have the capacity to make a specific decision (following a capacity assessment), that decision can be taken for them, 
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but it must be in their best interests.  

• Treatment and care provided to someone who lacks capacity should be the least restrictive of their basic rights and freedoms possible, while still 
providing the required treatment and care.  

See: http://www.nhs.uk/Conditions/social-care-and-support-guide/Pages/mental-capacity.aspx 
 

4.  B3 Advertising 
 

https://www.gov.uk/marketing-advertising-law/advertising-codes-of-practice 
http://www.cap.org.uk/Advertising-Codes.aspx 
 

All marketing and advertising must be an accurate description of the product or service, and be  

• legal 
• decent 
• truthful 
• honest 
• socially responsible (not encouraging illegal, unsafe or anti-social behaviour) 

There are regulations that restrict what advertisers can and cannot do. 

As well as the regulations, there are 2 advertising codes of practice that you need to follow to help you advertise legally.  

See also: http://cap.org.uk/Advice-Training-on-the-rules/Advice-Online-Database/Use-of-the-term-Dr-Chiropractors.aspx#.VTpr2Rs5DZM 
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5.  B4  

H 
Data Protection 
Act 1998 
 
 
Links to Records 
management  
 
 

https://www.gov.uk/data-protection/the-data-protection-act 
 
There are changes planned for the DP Act and these can be followed here: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/changes/affected/all/1998/affecting/all/2014-2015?affected-
title=data%20protection%20act#top. 
 
Sections referring to health care records (section 57) and the meaning of the term ‘health care 
professional’ (section 69) remain as they were when they were introduced in 2010.   
 
Code of practice (NHS) on Confidentiality: 
 
England: 
http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/06/conf-policy-1.pdf 
Scotland: 
http://www.ehealth.scot.nhs.uk/wp-content/documents/nhs-code-of-practice-on-protecting-patient-
confidentiality.pdf 
Wales 
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sites3/documents/950/codeofpractice.pdf 
N.Ireland 
http://www.dhsspsni.gov.uk/confidentiality-code-of-practice0109.pdf 

Summary Overview: 
 
Data protection – looking after the information you hold about patients. If you handle and store information about identifiable, living people – for example, 
about patients – you are legally obliged to protect that information. 
Under the Data Protection Act, you must: 
 

• only collect information that you need for a specific purpose; 
• keep it secure; 
• ensure it is relevant and up to date; 
• only hold as much as you need, and only for as long as you need it; and 
• allow the subject of the information to see it on request. 
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6.  C8 Ionising Radiation 

(medical Exposure) 
Amendment 
Regulations 2006 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/2523/pdfs/uksi_20062523_en.pdf 
 
was http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1999/3232/contents/made and Amendments 2006 and 2011 here: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2011/1567/contents/made 
 
 

Summary Overview: 

The regulations are intended to: 

• protect patients from unintended, excessive or incorrect medical exposures. 
• ensure the benefits outweigh the risk in every case. 
• make certain patients receive no more than the required exposure for the desired benefit, within technological limits. 

The regulations also apply to exposures as part of established health screening programmes, medical or biomedical, diagnostic or therapeutic research and 
those undertaken for medico-legal purposes. 

See helpful notes on amendments and guidance here: http://www.cqc.org.uk/content/ionising-radiation 
 
 

Other useful/important information: 

7.  B7 Duty of Candour 
 

See here: https://www.gcc-uk.org/about-us/news.aspx?ID=44 which explains and points to the joint 
statement signed by all healthcare regulators about openness and honesty and the professional duty of 
candour.  
http://www.gmc-
uk.org/Joint_statement_on_the_professional_duty_of_candour_FINAL.pdf_58140142.pdf 
 
 

 
The professional duty of candour is that health professionals must be open and honest with patients when things go wrong. The origination of this stemmed 
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from the Francis enquiry – the background and history can be found here: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/295773/Duty_of_Candour_Consultation..pdf (note the double full stop is 
correct). This is regarded as a major step towards implementing a key recommendation from the Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust Public Inquiry (the 
Francis Inquiry).   

8.  C7, C8, E, 
F3 and H2  
(glossary) 

Informed consent 
/ Consent 

http://www.nhs.uk/Conditions/Consent-to-treatment/Pages/Introduction.aspx 
 
This is also useful for guidance on assessing the capacity to consent.  

 
The principle of consent is an important part of medical ethics and the international human rights law. 
It can be given: 

• Verbally – for example, by saying they are happy to have an X-ray. 
• In writing – for example, by signing a consent form for a plan of care. 

 
The link provides a summary definition for voluntary, informed and capacity all important aspects of consent. 
 

9.  D1 Sexual Boundaries  
 
 

http://www.gcc-uk.org/UserFiles/Docs/Responsibilities_of_Healthcare_Professionals_Jan08.pdf 
 
Healthcare professionals must not display sexualised behaviour (acts, words or behaviour 
designed or intended to arouse or gratify sexual impulses or desires)  towards patients or their 
carers because doing so can cause significant and enduring harm. See www.chre.org.uk for guidance.  

 

10.  C9 Equipment and safe 
use 
 
 

Equipment classed as ‘medical devices’, falls under the authority of MHRA. MHRA enforces the Medical 
Devices Regulations and the General Product Safety Regulations to ensure medical devices are acceptably 
safe. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/home/groups/comms-ic/documents/websiteresources/con2031677.pdf 
 
The legislation in the European Directive defines medical devices. http://eur-
lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=CONSLEG:1993L0042:20071011:EN:PDF 
 
Further explanations are briefly explained here:  
http://medicaldevices.bsigroup.com/en-GB/our-services/european-mdd/ 
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11.  C2, H Records/ Records 

Management  
 
See also Data Protection 
 

Department of Health and NHS code of practice  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/records-management-nhs-code-of-practice 
http://www.nhs.uk/chq/Pages/1889.aspx?CategoryID=68 
 

The key statutory requirement for compliance with records management principles is the Data Protection Act 1998. This provides a broad framework of 
general standards that have to be met and considered in conjunction with other legal obligations. The Act regulates the processing of personal data, held both 
manually and on computer. Personal data is data relating to a living individual that enables him/her toc be identified either from that data alone or from that 
data in conjunction with other information in the data controller’s possession. It therefore includes such items of information as an individual’s name, 
address, age, race, religion, gender and physical, mental or sexual health. 
 

12.  A6 Infection Control  https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs61 
www.hpa.org.uk 
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Communications Strategy and Implementation Plan for publication of the new GCC Code  

1. Introduction 

The new GCC Code is expected to go live in June 2016 and a smooth transition over the June 2015-June 2016 period is essential to 
ensure that the new Standards are both understood by chiropractors and other relevant stakeholders affected by the change and are 
implemented by registrants.  
To ensure that this happens, we will carry out the implementation strategy outlined in this. 
 
2. Key Messages 

 
We will be using the following key messages: 
   

• The new GCC Code goes live on June 30th 2016, and registrants must ensure that that they are meeting its requirements by that 
date 

• The current COP and SOP remain in force until June 30th 2016  
• The new Code’s requirements will represent the professional standards that chiropractors must meet if they wish to practise in 

the UK    
• The Code has been drawn up following extensive consultation with the profession and other key stakeholders     
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3. Target Audiences and Audience Specific Messages3 

Audience Message 
Registrants Registrants must be aware of the new Code and the implications for how they practise 

 
Patient Groups and the public Patients and the public must be aware that the Code has changed to improve the levels of 

professionalism and public protection  

Chiropractic Associations We wish to work with them to promote awareness of the Code amongst their members 
 

Royal College We wish to work with them to promote awareness of the Code among members of the Royal College 
 

Education and CPD Providers Education and CPD providers need to be aware of the new Code to ensure that they adjust their 
curricula to teach the requirements of the new Code 

Lawyers involved in 
chiropractic regulatory issues 

They must be aware of the new Code and the implications for how they practise 

Professional Standards 
Authority 

We want the PSA to be aware that we have revised our Code to improve professionalism in the 
profession 

Department of Health We want the Department to be aware that we have revised our Code to improve standards across the 
profession and to better protect the public 
 

Other Healthcare Regulators We want to inform them that we have revised our Code 
 

3 The specific message for several groups is the same as a consequence of overlapping interests and remits 
3 Including legal assessors, lawyers who advise the GCC, external counsel instructed by the GCC and legal representatives for registrants. It also encompasses non-legally qualified 
registrants who offer independent professional opinions to the GCC and IC and PCC panel members 
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4. Communication and Engagement Activities 

Communication and engagement activity associated with the Code will start as soon as the Code has been approved by Council4.  

However, with a year between the Code being published and it being implemented, there is a risk that interest among registrants will 
fade. The experiences of a number of other regulators who have introduced new Codes suggests that registrant engagement remains 
low until relatively close to the implementation date.  

As a consequence, the level of activity that the GCC will be carrying out will increase as the implementation date approaches to ensure 
that we raise the profile of the new Code at the time interest among the profession is likely to be at its greatest. This will also allow us to 
prepare and develop many of the activities outlined in the plan towards the end of 2015, which will ensure that we are able to sustain a 
period of concentrated activity in the run up to June 2016.  

The activities outlined in this plan will also be supported by the GCC’s regular, normal communication and social media activity, such as 
the Newsletter, that we will carry out over 2015-2016.  

It is also proposed that meetings will be sought with the chiropractic associations and the Royal College once the Code has been 
approved to discuss how they can help to promulgate the Code more widely to their members. The associations and College can play a 
vital role in communicating directly with registrants about the Code and how registrants can ensure that they are compliant with its 
requirements. It is hoped that they will respond enthusiastically by covering the Code in their Newsletters and other publications. It is 
also hoped that as well as making presentations about the Code at their events, we might have a stand at such events to allow 
delegates the opportunity to discuss the Code with us informally.   

Further communication and implementation plans will be required for the Guidance that we will be publishing both in the run up to and 
after the Code’s introduction, and also for internal communications within the GCC.              

The activities that the GCC will carry out in the lead up to the introduction of the Code are outlined below: 
 

4 Which is expected to be at its June 2015 meeting 
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Date Activity Audience How 
July 
2015 

Provide information on the Code for 
stakeholders once it has been approved and 
particularly the implementation timetable   

Registrants, Royal 
College, 
Associations, 
Education and CPD 
Providers, Patients 
and the Public 

Ensure that GCC website supports the Code 
including English and Welsh copies of the 
Code, frequently asked questions, timetable 
and a slide presentation. 
This will also include information on the June 
2015 – June 2016 period and how the old and 
new odes will relate to each other.  

 Inform registrants that the Code has been 
approved and provide them with a link to a 
copy 

Registrants Email to registrants enclosing a link to the 
Code 

 Inform the Royal College, Associations, 
Education and CPD Providers, Patient 
Groups, Public and lawyers involved in 
chiropractic issues that the   Code will be 
effective from June 2016 and seeking their 
assistance to publicise the Code among their 
memberships.   

Royal College, 
Associations, 
Education and CPD 
Providers, Patient 
Groups, Public and 
lawyers   

Email to Royal College, Associations, 
Education and CPD Providers, Patient Groups 
and lawyers involved in chiropractic issues 
including link to the Code 

 Inform the DH, PSA and other regulators of 
the Code and plans for the June 2016 
introduction   

DH, PSA and other 
regulators 

Letter to DH, PSA and other regulators 
 

January 
2016 

Raise awareness, particularly among 
registrants, patients and the public of the 
forthcoming introduction of the Code 

Registrants,  
patients and the 
public 

Countdown timer and rotating banner on the 
GCC website, and electronic signatures for 
GCC staff  

Feb  Raise awareness among registrants of the 
Code’s requirements  

Registrants A webinar outlining the Code’s requirements 

March  Impress upon registrants the need to start 
considering the Code and how it will impact 

Registrants  Checklist on the GCC website outlining what 
registrants should be doing to prepare for the 
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upon their practise Code’s introduction  

   Case study on the website of what a 
chiropractor is doing to prepare for the 
introduction of the Code 

April Remind registrants of the Code’s imminent 
introduction 

Registrants Email to registrants with link to the Code 

 Email to Royal College, Associations, 
Education and CPD Providers and Patient 
Groups enclosing the Code 

Royal College, 
Associations, 
Education and CPD 
Providers and 
Patient Groups 

To remind them of the imminent introduction 
of the Code 

 Impress upon registrants the need to start 
considering the Code and how it will impact 
upon their practise 

Registrants Case study on the website of what a 
chiropractor is doing to prepare for the 
introduction of the Code 
 

May Impress upon registrants the need to start 
considering the Code and how it will impact 
upon their practise 

Registrants Checklist on the GCC website outlining what 
registrants should be doing to prepare for the 
Code’s introduction 
Case study on the website of what a 
chiropractor is doing to prepare for the 
introduction of the Code 
A webinar discussion outlining the Code’s 
requirements and how they should be met 
 

 Raise awareness of the Code among patients 
and the public 

Patients and the 
public 

Leaflet outlining what the Code means for 
patients and how it will improve standards in 
the profession 
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June  Provide ‘hard’ copy of the Code to registrants  Registrants  Letter enclosing a ‘hard’ copy of the Code  
 Provide ‘hard copy’ of the Code to Royal 

College, Associations, Education and CPD 
Providers and Patient Groups 
 

Royal College, 
Associations, 
Education and CPD 
Providers, patients 
and the public 

To ensure that they have a physical copy of 
the Code and that they are aware of its 
imminent introduction 
 

 New electronic signatures Registrants and 
patients  

Highlighting the imminent introduction of the 
Code 

 Impress upon registrants the need to consider 
the Code and how it will impact upon their 
practise 

Registrants  Case study on the website of what a 
chiropractor is doing to prepare for the 
introduction of the Code 

July  Inform registrants that the Code has entered 
into force 

Registrants Email informing them that the Code has come 
into force and asking them to confirm receipt 
of a copy 

 Inform Royal College, Associations, Education 
and CPD providers, Patient Groups and other 
regulators that the Code has come into force   

Royal College, 
Associations, 
Education and CPD 
providers,  Patient 
Groups and other 
regulators 

Email informing them that the Code has come 
into force 

 Inform the DH, PSA and other regulators that 
the Code has come into force 

 DH and PSA Write to them Informing them that the Code 
has come into force and enclosing a copy 

 Ensure that the GCC website reflects the 
Code’s introduction 

Registrants,  
patients and the 
public 

Amend front page and Code pages 

 Ensure that lawyers involved in GCC activity 
are aware of the Code 

Lawyers working 
with the GCC  

Write to them Informing them that the Code 
has come into force and enclosing a copy 
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October Case Study Registrants Case study on the website of how a 

chiropractor has found operating under the 
Code 
 

 Ensure that GCC PCC and IC members are 
aware of the Code’s introduction and 
requirements 
  

PCC And IC 
members 

Briefing event 

 
5. Post Implementation Review 

 
There will need to be a review of the effectiveness of the implementation plan. While we will receive some instant feedback (from 
participation numbers in events like webinars, for example), in December 2016 we will formally seek to measure the awareness 
among registrants of the new Standards via a survey contained in the GCC Newsletter.      
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Appendix D 
 
GCC Equality Impact Assessment (EIA)  
 
Equality - The Legal Framework 
 
In 2010 a wide collection of existing anti-discrimination measures were combined into a single 
Act of Parliament named the Equality Act the major elements of which came into effect from 
October of that year. 

The Act covers a very wide spread of conduct and activities to protect people from 
discrimination on the basis of “protected characteristics” which are:  

• Age  

• Disability  
• Gender reassignment  
• Marriage and civil partnership  
• Pregnancy and maternity  
• Race  
• Religion or belief  
• Sex  
• Sexual orientation  

 

The terms of this complex piece of legislation provide protection against direct and indirect 
discrimination, harassment (including third party harassment) and victimisation in services 
and public functions, premises, education, associations and transport for all of the 
characteristics except marriage and civil partnership and age.  

Public bodies like the GCC must meet the ‘public sector equality duty’ requirements - a duty 
on public bodies and others carrying out public functions.  

The equality duty consists of a ‘general duty’ and ‘specific duties’. The ‘general duty’ applies 
across Great Britain to public bodies listed in Schedule 19 of the Equality Act 2010 and it is 
this part of the Equality Duty that currently applies to the GCC. 

The aim of the equality duty is to embed equality considerations into the day to day work of 
public authorities so that they tackle discrimination and inequality and contribute to making 
society fairer.  

The ‘general duty’ requires public bodies like the GCC to have ‘due regard’ to the need to:  

• eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited by the Equality Act 2010  

• advance equality of opportunity between people from different groups; and  

• foster good relations between people from different groups.  
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The duty applies before the GCC takes a decision. It is not sufficient for the GCC to take a 
decision and then review it for equality considerations.  

Equality considerations must, by law, be taken into account at the time a decision is made. 
The Equality Impact Assessment template is designed to help staff, the Council and 
Committee members comply with the law by identifying and evaluating the consequences of 
a potential decision which impact on equality considerations. 

Further information on the Act can be found on the Equality and Human Rights Commission 
and the Government Equalities Office websites. 

Please liaise with Richard Kavanagh, Equality and Diversity Officer, when completing an EIA. 
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Equality Impact Assessment Evaluation 
 
The following template has been used to help determine whether an equality impact 
assessment (EIA) is required.  
 
Name of the policy: The Code - Standards of conduct, performance and ethics for 
Chiropractors 
 
Directorate:   Education, Registration and Standards  
 

Name of policy owner: Penny Bance 
 
Job title:  Director of Education, Registration and Standards  
 
Date:  April 2015 
 
 

Does the policy require an EIA? Answer the following questions.  
 

1. What are the main aims, purpose and outcomes of the policy?  
 

The Code has been reviewed and refreshed, and the Code of Practice and Standard of 
Proficiency merged into one document.  

It has been consulted upon and reviewed by a wide audience including legal experts and 
from patient groups as well as the Chiropractic profession, key committees within the GCC.  

The key purpose has been to ensure that it is: fit for purpose and meets FTP requirements; 
focusses on public interest and patient safety; and continues to be relevant to the 
Chiropractic profession and truly representative. 

The accessibility of the document has also been discussed within the consultations. It is 
agreed that the structure and format and its presentation must be accessible. Considerations 
have been given as to whether the Code should be available as a Web-based and/or hard 
copies. Also if separate standards for registrant groups/patients; ethical or principle based 
guidance are required.  

There will be new guidance produced to support the Code.    

2. Who is expected to benefit from the policy?  
 
Besides registered chiropractors beneficiaries will also be patients, the public, training 
providers, indemnity providers, etc. anyone working with and in the chiropractic profession.  
  
3. Who implements the policy and who is responsible for it?  
 
The Education Team will continue to be responsible for the Code.  
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Implementation will be dependent on the Education Team. Information on changes made will 
be made available for a year prior to publication and this will be available for those working on 
FTP cases and other key personnel.  
 
Communication staff will also play a role in publicising the new Code to ensure all GCC staff 
members are aware.  
 
4. Is it likely that the policy will have any relevance to our duty to:  
 

a. eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited by the Equality Act;  

b. advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic 
and those who do not ; 

c. foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those 
who do not;  

d. remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected 
characteristics;  

e. take steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where these are 
different from the needs of other people;  

f. encourage people from protected groups to participate in public life or in other 
activities where there participation is disproportionately low?  

 
Answers: 
 
a. no 

b. no  

c. no  

d. Yes – the Code does and the guidance will make clear that registrants need to respect 
patient dignity; take specific communication needs into account and the new standards also 
make clear that patients need to be treated as individuals.  

The Standards also makes clear that registrants should not discriminate against patients who 
have a protected characteristic and it also states that patients should not be discriminated 
against for any other reason. There is also a requirement for registrants not to express their 
own personal beliefs in a way that may cause offence to patients.  

e. Yes – the guidance makes reference to relatives or carers attending with patients to ensure 
that patients can communicate effectively with chiropractors.  

f. no  

 
5. What evidence do you have to come to this conclusion?  
 
The GCC commissioned research that included extensive consultation. Details on this are 
provided in the papers submitted to the Council for the 30th March 2015.  This included: 
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engagement with registrants, patients, stakeholders (Chiropractic Associations) and 
providers, in-house legal advice and two public consultation on the drafts.  

 
6. Are there any aspects of the policy, including how it is delivered or accessed, that could 
actively contribute to inequality?  
 
No  
 
7. Do you consider that this is either a ‘major policy’ or a ‘minor policy with a major impact on 
equality’?  
 
The implementation of the new Code will have no impact on equality.  

If the policy is not relevant to an aspect of the organisation’s activities or to its legal 
responsibilities, there is no need to conduct an EIA.  

If your answers to questions 4 or 6 above have identified potential effects and you have 
answered yes to question 7, then you should carry out a full EIA.  

Before proceeding with the EIA you should consider the scope of the assessment and 
discuss this with colleagues if necessary. You should then move on to use the full EIA 
template to carry out the assessment.  

 
Is an EIA required? YES or NO 

NO 

 

The evaluation has been checked by the Director or designated manager  
 

 
Name  Job title    Date  
 

Penny Bance   Director of Education   17/5/2015 
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To:  The Council, General Chiropractic Council 
 
From:  Paul Ghuman, Director of Resources and Regulation 
 
Subject: Performance Report 
 
Date:  18 June 2015 
 
 
 
1. Purpose 
 
The purpose of this paper is to present to Council the Performance Report covering the period 
up to the end of May 2015 
 
2.  Summary 
 
Key Performance indicators 
 
The only indicator that is showing a red status (where we are not meeting our target) is, “listing 
PCC hearings within 9 months of referral of case from the IC”. The current position is that 66% 
of cases have been listed within nine months in 2015. This figure will improve during the second 
half of 2015 when all the backlog PCC cases have been determined at the PCC. The current 
hearing days allocated for the year are deemed appropriate.  
 
Business Plan  
 
All activities due to be delivered by the end of Quarter 2 are progressing as planned. 
 
Financial Summary 
 
Income 
 
At the end of May, the income to date was £2,293k and the expected income to date was 
£2,307k. This leads to a difference of £14k on what we expected to receive. This is primarily as 
a result of investment income showing a difference of £9k against that forecast. The remainder 
of the difference of £5k relates to overall registration income. 
 
Expenditure 
 
At the end of May, we have spent £891k and we expected to spend £910k. We have spent £19k 
less than forecast.  
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There is a slight negative difference of £4k on FtP costs. We expect that FtP costs will be 
contained within the budget allocated by the end of the year.  
 
There are further small differences on accommodation costs and professional fees of £11k in 
total. These are as a result of the new accommodation rates not becoming effective until the 
end of February 2015 and also an increase in legal advice in the period. 
 
There are positive differences on staff costs, IT costs and office costs of £30k in total. 
 
The surplus for the period is £1,402k in comparison to a forecast surplus of £1,396k leading to a 
positive difference of £6k.  
 
The grant balance from the Department of Health for work on Continuing Fitness to Practice is 
£72k at the end of May 2015. 
 
Although the investment income is below forecast at present, the current return is higher than 
that achieved in 2014. The income performance on the portfolio will continue to be monitored.  
 
Council will note the positive position on the portfolio valuation at the end of May 2015 which 
was £4.486M. This is an increase of £486k on the initial investment. 
 
3. Action required 
 
Council is asked to note the Performance Report. 
 
 
 

Paul Ghuman 
Email: p.ghuman@gcc-uk.org 

Telephone: 020 7713 5155 
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Performance Management and monitoring 
of the operational action plan 
 
May 2015  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Prepared by the Senior Executive Board 
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Overview  

Major Events  
 
 
PSA Performance Report 2014/15 – The GCC has responded 
to the PSA re their draft Performance Review. The final report is 
due to be published in June 2015. 
 
PSA Performance Review – The PSA commenced its 
consultation on the 7 May, giving a closing date of 27 July.  We 
will be responding to the consultation, which can be found 
at http://www.professionalstandards.org.uk/get-involved/our-
consultations/performance-review-consultation  
 
Professional Accountability Bill - The Queen’s Speech did not 
include the anticipated Professional Accountability Bill based on 
the Law Commissioner’s recommendations. The Bill will thus not 
be considered in the first session of this Parliament. However, the 
Minister has written to the Chair’s of the Healthcare Regulators, 
saying that he is committed to the Bill’s introduction and that he 
plans to meet with them.  The GCC Chairman is waiting to 
receive proposed dates.  
 
 
 
 
  

Business Plan delivery  
 
Council agreed that the executive would report on any activity 
that was not proceeding as planned. There are no activities 
which are currently not proceeding as planned.   
 
Key Performance Indicators  
 
We are not hitting our target to list 90% (actual 66%) of PCC 
hearings within nine months of referral. This is explained on 
Page 5. 
 
Financial 
 
The profit on our investment portfolio has reached £486k.  
 
The net difference on retention income is £5k at the end of May 
2015.  
 
The investment portfolio income has fallen behind that 
expected by £9k. The income return will be monitored closely in 
the next few months. 
 
Expenditure to date is below that planned by 20K.  
 
The overall surplus is £6K. 
 
The financial summary is on page 3 and 4.  
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Financial Summary – As at 30 May 2015 
 

 
Year To Date   

Income Actual  Budget  Difference 2015 Budget Note  
Sales 

     Initial Registration 57,400 57,188 213 137,250 1 
Non practising to practising 7,200 3,333 3,867 8,000 1 
Restoration 10,800 3,125 7,675 7,500 1 
Retention - Practising 2,128,000 2,143,200 -15,200 2,143,200 1 
Retention - Non Practising 29,400 30,300 -900 30,300 

 Investment Income 60,709 70,000 -9,291 168,000 2 
Income (A) 2,293,509 2,307,146 -13,637 2,494,250   

      Expenditure  
     Staff Costs 408,789 415,464 6,675 1,044,114 

 IT costs 14,719 29,167 14,447 80,000 3 
Office Costs 49,113 57,708 8,596 168,500 4 
Accommodation Costs 96,893 90,038 -6,855 228,200 5 
Finance costs 2,045 2,292 247 21,465 

 Professional fees 32,902 28,958 -3,944 157,500 6 
Council costs 56,663 54,917 -1,746 166,800 

 Communication 0 2,500 2,500 18,000 
 Registrations 2,385 1,500 -885 7,000 
 Education 4,952 9,013 4,060 25,130 
 FtP 222,626 218,992 -3,634 617,000 
 Expenditure (B) 891,088 910,549 19,461 2,533,709   

Surplus / (Deficit) sub total (A-
B) 1,402,421 1,396,597 5,824 -39,459   

 
 
 
Grant Funding - Earmarked for Revalidation Balance b/f Income Expenditure Balance c/f 

76,818 0 4,652 72,166 
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Other Notes  
 
Note 1:  
 
We have received less retention fee income than anticipated with a shortfall of £16k. The level of initial registration and other registration 
figures are, however, higher than expected at this stage by £11k. This leads to a difference of £5k. 
 
Note 2:  
 
The current income performance on the investment portfolio has fallen behind that expected by £9k. This will be monitored as the return is 
closer to the 3% return achieved in 2014, whereas we are trying to achieve a 4% return from income. 
 
Note 3:  
 
The costs for IT are lower than forecast at this point in the year by £14K. This is as a result of database development being slower than 
anticipated and also some IT costs being deferred to quarter 3. It is anticipated that these costs will be within budget by the year end. 
 
Note 4: 
 
Variable office costs such as stationary, copying and postage are below anticipated as we reduce the number of FtP open cases.  
 
Note 5: 
 
Accommodation costs are showing an overspend as the new rates agreed did not become effective until the end of February 2015. 
 
Note 6:  
 
Professional fees are slightly higher than expected as a result of legal advice taken and also additional work carried out on projects to date. 
 
Portfolio Valuation  
 
The portfolio valuation is £4,486,201 as at 30 May 2015.  
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Key Performance Indicators  
 
Fitness to Practise Status Exception Information 

 
To list 90% of PCC hearings within 
nine months of referral 

 Actual rate – 66% of cases so far listed in 2015 were within nine months of referral.  A number 
of old cases are listed for the second quarter and this percentage will drop in this period before 
we see an appreciable improvement in quarter 3 for this KPI. 
 
The reason for this failure to meet out target is because of the increased number of referrals to 
the PCC at the end of 2012 and during 2013. 
 
To cope with this the number of hearing days allocated in 2015 remains high. However, we 
expect the bulge in PCC cases to have worked through the system during the year and we 
expect to meet our target during the latter half of 2015. 

 
During the first five months of 2015, the GCC received 22 complaints which are currently being investigated for determination by the 
Investigating Committee. During the first five months of 2014, we had received 38 complaints.  
 
Operational plan progress – by strategic aim and activity 
 
Reporting on the achievement of key milestones due for completion by quarter 2.  
 
The only operational activity due for completion in Quarter 1, namely securing a reduction in hearing accommodation costs, has been 
completed. All activities due for completion by the end of Quarter 2 are progressing as planned.  
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Fitness to practice annual statistics report 2014 

 

Executive summary 

This report sets out the key statistics on the GCC’s fitness to practice (FtP) activity for 2014.   

Despite the massive increase in cases since 2012 we have now successfully managed them 
through the IC stage and there were only 17 open cases at the end of 2014. The fall in open 
cases from 58 at the start of 2013 to 17 at the end of 2014 marks a 71% reduction in open 
cases.   

The number of cases open at the PCC, has fallen by 50%.  44 cases were open at the start 
of 2013, but only 22 were open at the end of 2014.  

It is also encouraging that in 2014 the number of cases received at the GCC fell for the first 
time since 2012  

Background  

The GCC had historically received approximately 35 cases per annum up to 2011.  
However, following a review of the internal FtP system in 2012, we discovered 127 cases 
from previous years that had not been investigated. As a consequence of changes to how 
we analyse cases, the annual number of complaints increased to 74 in 2012 and to 80 in 
2013.  

As a result of the increase in caseload which effectively went up from 40 cases in 2011 to 
201 cases in 2012 there was an inevitable increase in the number of referrals by the 
Investigating Committee (IC) to the Professional Conduct Committee (PCC) and also one 
case to the Health Committee (HC).  In order to accommodate this increase, additional 
meetings of the IC were put in place to determine the cases once the investigation was 
complete.  

The increase in referrals to the PCC also inevitably lead to a bulge in number of cases to be 
determined at a hearing and the GCC agreed to increase hearing days in order to deal with 
this problem.  

Investigating committee outcomes 

The key points are that:  

• The number of open cases has decreased from 58 at the start of 2013 to just 17 
cases at the end of 2014.  

• We are pleased to note that the number of cases received has dropped to 65 in 2014 
from 80 in 2013. 

• Of the cases received in 2014, over 60% were determined in that year. This is an 
increase from 2013 when the percentage was 45%. 

• The number of cases determined by the IC fell from a peak of 105 cases in 2013 to 
81 cases in 2014.   

• The number of cases referred to the PCC by the IC peaked in 2012 at 27 cases and 
reduced to 24 in 2013 and further reduced to 20 in 2014. 
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IC caseload data 

 

  2014 

 2013 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 
Totals 
at year 

end 
Number 
of cases 
b/f 

58 33 37 34 28 34 32 30 27 28 27 23 18  

Number 
of new 
cases  

80 10 6 6 11 4 4 7 1 7 5 1 3 65 

Number of 
cases 
determined 
by IC  

105 6 9 12 5 6 6 10 0 8 9 6 4 81 

Number 
of cases 
c/f 

33 37 34 28 34 32 30 27 28 27 23 18 17  

 

Change in IC caseload data  

Over 2014, there was a 56% fall in open cases as a result of the number reducing from 33 at 
the start of 2014 to 17 at the end of the year. This follows a reduction in 2013 of 43% as the 
number of open cases in that year reduced from 58 to 33 cases.  
 
These substantial reductions  demonstrate  the organisation’s success  in determining cases 
in a timely manner. The chart below shows the change in caseload by month. 
 
 

 
 
 
The chart below shows the movement in the number of open cases at the end of each 
month from January 2013 to December 2014. This shows a steady reduction in the number 
of cases and a total reduction of 71% from 58 cases at the start of 2013 to 17 cases at the 
end of 2014. 
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IC cases determined and referrals to the PCC 
 
Of the 81 cases that were determined in 2014, 20 were referred to the PCC. This follows on 
from 24 referrals in 2013 and 26 referrals in 2012. In 2011, the number of cases determined 
by the IC in 2011 was far less at 25, and 8 were referred to the PCC. 
 

 
 
The referral rate for cases referred to the PCC are as follows: 
 

  
Cases 
Determined by IC 

Referred to 
the PCC 

Percentage of 
cases referred 

2011 25 8 32.0% 
2012 173 26 15.0% 
2013 105 24 22.9% 
2014 81 20 24.7% 
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The low percentage referral rate in 2012 was as a result of determining some of the 127 
cases which had not been dealt with properly in previous years. A number of individuals did 
not wish to pursue their case as a consequence of the time that had lapsed since the original 
complaint, and in a number of other cases there was insufficient evidence for the IC to refer 
the case.  
 
The threshold test for the IC remains extremely low and this inevitably leads to a large 
percentage of cases being referred to the PCC.  
 
Breakdown of IC cases determined by complainant group 
 
Almost 75% of the complaints determined were in relation to complaints made by patients. 
There were also 8 complaints made by chiropractors against other chiropractors. We expect 
that this number will reduce in the future following Council’s recent decision that the GCC 
should not deal with business disputes. 
 

Complainant  group 
Number of 
cases 

Patient 61 
Chiropractor 8 
Public  2 
Conviction 2 
Health professional 4 
Self referral 1 
Police 1 
Registration 1 
Other 1 
TOTAL 81 

 
IC Breakdown 

The gender profile of registrants on the register is approximately 50% male and 50% female. 
As a proportion, a larger number of complaints are against male registrants than female. 
This was a trend that was identified in the Sally Williams’ report. 

Gender of 
Registrant Number of cases % 

Male 56 69.1% 
Female 25 30.9% 
  81  

 

Age Range Registrants Percentage 
20 - 29 13 16.0% 
30 - 39 24 29.6% 
40 - 49 27 33.3% 
50 - 59 12 14.8% 
60 + 5 6.2% 

 
81 
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Breakdown of cases by IC decision 

  No Case % Withdrawn % PCC % 
Total 54 66% 7 9% 20 25% 

 

Nationality 

British 68 84% 
Australian 3 4% 
Irish 2 2% 
American 2 2% 
Greek 1 1% 
Canadian 3 4% 
South African 1 1% 
New Zealander 1 1% 
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Professional Conduct Committee outcomes 
 
The key points for 2014 are: 
 

• The number of open cases reduced from 44 at the start of 2013 to 22 at the end of 
2014, a 50% reduction.  

 
• The number of open cases is still a concern and we are hopeful that this number will 

reduce further by the end of 2015.  The number of hearing days allocated appear to 
be adequate to bring about this change. 

 
• The number of PCC cases concluded has increased in each year since 2011. 

 
PCC caseload data 

In 2014, the GCC increased the number of determined PCC cases compared to previous 
years, as can be seen below. 

 

 

The number of open cases reduced from 26 at the start of the year to 22 at the end of 2014. 
However, the number of open cases at the start of 2013 was 44 so the number of open 
cases reduced by 50% by the end of 2014. 

The table shows that there were 20 referrals from the IC in 2014 and that 24 cases had been 
determined.  

2014 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Totals 

Number of 
cases b/f 26 27 25 25 25 24 22 23 21 20 22 23 26 

Number of 
cases referred  1 2 1 3 2 2 1 0 1 4 3 0 20 

Number of 
cases 

determined 
0 4 1 3 3 4 0 2 2 2 2 1 24 

Number c/f 27 25 25 25 24 22 23 21 20 22 23 22 22 

7 
11 

19 

24 

2011 2012 2013 2014

PCC Cases Concluded 
PCC Cases Concluded
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PCC Cases Heard in 2014 

In 2014, the PCC determined 24 cases in total. There were in fact 21 hearings as some 
registrants had more than one case. There were also three cases which were heard in 2014 
but did not complete and have been further listed in 2015. 

Decisions of completed PCC hearings 

 3 individuals were struck off from the register in 2014. The complaints which led to them 
being struck off were in relation to sexual boundaries and treatment concerns 

As a result of the low threshold test applied at the Investigating Committee, there are a 
number of cases which do not meet the test for Unacceptable Professional Conduct or 
Professional Incompetence once further evidence has been gathered. As a consequence, 
the PCC did not impose a sanction in over 50% of the hearings during 2014.  

 

Decision Registrants % of cases  
Struck off 3 14% 
Suspension 1 5% 
Conditions of 
Practice 1 5% 

Admonishment 5 24% 
No UPC 11 52% 
Total 21 

 

The GCC offered no evidence in 6 hearings which accounts for 29% of the total hearings 
determined. The GCC has a duty to consider the merits of each case as evidence is 
gathered and where the GCC considers that there is insufficient evidence to support the 
allegation, we will offer no evidence. 

Review Hearings 

There were 4 review hearings in 2014. The decisions at those review hearings is shown in 
the table below. 

Decision No. of Registrants 
Revoked condition 3 
Suspension 1 

 

PCC cases determined by registrant profile 

The percentage of complaints determined by the PCC shows that over 80% of cases were 
against male registrants. This is much higher than the percentage of male chiropractors on 
the register, which is 50%. 

Gender 

Gender Cases Percentage 
Male 17 81% 
Female 4 19% 

 
21 
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Ages Ranges 

Although complaints were made in almost all age ranges, almost half were for those in the 
age range 30-39.  

Age Range Cases Percentage 

20 – 29 0 0% 

30 – 39 10 48% 

40 – 49 6 29% 

50 – 59 4 19% 

60 + 1 5% 

 

21 

  

Nationality 

Nationality Cases Percentage 
American 1 5% 
Australian 2 10% 
British 14 67% 
Greek 2 10% 
New Zealander 1 5% 
South African 1 5% 

 
21 
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To:  The Council, General Chiropractic Council 
 
From:  Jamie Button 
 
Subject: The General Chiropractic Council (Indemnity Arrangements)  

Rules 
 
Date:  18 June 2015 
 
 
Purpose 

1. The purpose of this paper is to seek agreement from Council on proposed new 
rules changing registrants’ indemnity requirements – a copy of the new rules is 
attached at Annex 1. 

 
Background  

2. Council was informed in June 2014, and updated in August 2014, that the 
Government had introduced legislation commencing on 17 July 2014 allowing 
registrants options in meeting indemnity arrangements in addition to insurance. 
We and the Department of Health have been drawing up new rules, as required 
by the legislation, setting out the parameters of the indemnity arrangements 
which need to come in before the 16 July 2015 deadline. 

 
3. Since the August 2014 update, the GCC has: 

a. undertaken an initial consultation with the UK chiropractic professional 
associations and liaised with insurers in order to canvas their respective views 
on the new rules 

b. had extensive communications with the GCC’s solicitors, Field Fisher 
Waterhouse, to ensure that the draft rules are: 
i. fit for purpose; and 
ii. not unduly burdensome on registrants 

c. held a second consultation with the associations and received feedback on 
the draft rules, which has largely been positive 

d. liaised with the Department of Health to ensure that it is  satisfied with the 
rules. 

 
Communication implications 

4. If Council agrees the rules, registrants, along with other stakeholders, will be 
notified of the timeframe for implementation of the new rules and of their 
responsibilities. 
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5. Amendments to the GCC website and literature such as application forms, will 
also need to be made to reflect the changes introduced by the new rules. 

 
Equality and diversity implications 

6. There are no equality or diversity implications. 
 
Financial implications 

7. There are no financial implications. 
 
Action required 

8. Council is asked to agree the rules. 
 
 

Jamie Button 
Email: j.button@gcc-uk.org 

Telephone: 020 7713 5155 x5501 
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March 31st June 18th September 30th December 3rd

Update report from the Audit Committee Update report from the Audit Committee Review of Strategic Risk Register Update report from the Audit Committee

Review of Strategic Risk Register
Strategic Risk Register - any items scoring 

over 15
Performance Report

Strategic Risk Register - any items scoring 

over 15
Performance Report

-Annual Registration Report 

Performance Report PSA

- Annual FtP report and statistics 
Review Strategic Statement Performance Report

Board effectiveness
Management letter and letter of 

representation
Communication Plan

Financial Strategy Review incl Investment 

Strategy

Budget update Financial Statements Draft Business Plan and budget Remuneration Committee's report

CPD/Continuing FtP Code Approval Review of retention fees Draft business plan and budget

CoP and SoP Update Update on research projects AECC recognition approval (tbc) Education Ctte annual report

Review of Governance manual Indemnity Rule changes Poss Welsh Language Standards Council Annual Effectiveness survey

Remuneration Committee paper
Governance documents (inc.E&D and 

complaints policy)
Annual Report and Accounts Presentation from Cazenove

Consideration of financial options

Council dates for 2016

Council work plan for 2015

ITEMS TO NOTE

Performance Report emailed monthly (last week of each month)

Action log

Council work plan

Chair's report

Chief Executive's report
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